

Sofiya Zahova

Sofiya Zahova

History of Romani literature with Multimedia on Romani kids' publications



With the support of the Culture programme of the European Union. This publication is produced by Studii Romani within capmUSCulturae project funded with support from the European Commission. The book and the multimedia reflects the views only of the author, and the Commission cannot be held responsible for any use which may be made of the information contained therein.

© Sofiya Zahova, 2014 © Blagoy Zahov, cover design, 2014 © Paradigma, 2014 ISBN 978-954-326-229-8

Contents

Introduction
Romani literature in Europe from
its birth until 1980s9
First written texts in Romani10
Romani publications in Soviet Union, 1920-1930s
Romani language and culture in the context of Yugoslav Roma policies25
The other socialist states
Western European states
Internationalization of the Romani literature after 1990s
Cross-boder developments
Common Romani identity narratives65
Research on Romani literature72



Genres and topics in contemporary Romani literature and Roma kids' publications7	73
Educational materials7	74
Traditional folklore, tales and stories8	35
Poetry) 1
(Auto) biographies9	98
Translations in Romani10)5
Conclusion11	10
Bibliography11	2

Literature in Romani published in USSR in 20s and 30s of 20thc......130

Publications in Romani language and by Roma authors from Serbia142

Introduction

It was only in the 20th century, when Roma, after centuries of oral tradition, have started to write literature and to publish. The Romani literature production has been growing enormously in the decades after 1980s and the Romani literature scene became truly international. Up until now in the countries all over Europe and Americas where Roma live have appeared a number of publications varying from materials to support the education of the Romato original books by Roma authors with tales, poetry, autobiographies, and short stories. The definition Romani literature in this book refers to the written works published by authors who are Roma by origin and works that target Roma reading audiences. These are books written in many different languages and dialects of the Romani language, published in different countries under various circumstances, but most of them reflecting the cultural roots of the Romani communities and containing elements from the Romani ethnoculture.

The aim of this publication is to provide a short historical overview of the Romani literature publications in European context, stressing on the developments in different regions and countries and the issues what have influenced these developments. Romani literature texts as most literature artefacts are not autonomous pieces. That is why this text tries to

5

draw tendencies in the development in the Romani literature, bearing in mind the context surrounding the literature productions and the key factors which impact them, instead of trying to comprehensively review or provide account of all works and authors, which is anyway impossible. find the most appropriate the Ι historical approach, because, as I try to reveal, the tendencies in Romani literature development are interrelated with the development in different historical periods and their political context. I propose periodization in the development of Romani literature into four periods. The first period stars with the immergence of written texts in Romani in the beginning of the 20th c. and the interwar period in which the major phenomena is the Soviet state-wide project for publications in Romani. The second period refers to the second half of the XX c. with immergence of works by Roma authors in many European countries. A third period starts in 1980s, with raising the issue of Roma children's education and Romani culture by European institutions, the fall of the Iron Curtain and boom in the production of Romani literature in the decades after 1989. And the fourth period from the end of 1990s and after 2000 when we may speak about internationalization of the Romani literature scene and developments that go far beyond the borders of national country or a region.

The second part of the book discusses the variety of genres, topics and subjects that could be found in the Romani children literature and Romani literature for adults, but the literature studies classification of genres is not leading in our overview. The genre classification is not an appropriate tool also because in Romani literature

TK

there are not really clear boundaries and in a piece of literary work often the genres are blurred – folklore story and authors narrative are merging, one book can be both autobiography, testimony and folklore, a picture book/short story can at the same time be autobiography, etc. And, at the end, every piece of written text in Romani can be applied in education and used as educational material for Romani kids' classes.

7

The development of Romani literature or of various authors and topics has been also in the scope of research and publications. So far the most comprehensive international study is the book "The Literature of the Roma" published originally in German, with consequent translations, by Rajko Djurić (Djurić 2002). Considerable research on famous Roma authors was produced by the University of Graz within its Rombase project (romani.uni-graz.at/rombase/) and Roma history and culture factsheets project co-funded by CoE (Romani-Project Graz/Michael Wogg). Several issues of Etudes Tsiganes (9/1997; 36/2008; 37/2009) were devoted to Romani literature with proceedings from international scientific forums articles devoted primarily with developments. to international The number of research on Roma literature in Europe with the approach of comparative literature studies has been also growing recently among scholars (Eder-Jordan 1993, 2000; Trevisan 2008; Toninato 2013). The immergence of publications in Romani and by Roma authors was also discussed in historical texts focusing on the history of the Roma in various countries (Marushiakova/Popov 1997; Achim 2004; Acković 1994) or in



general (Crowe 1995; Kenrick 1998). A comprehensive review of publications useful for Romani children education was done by Peter Bakker and Hristo Kyuchukov in an electronically published bibliography (Bakker/ Kyuchukov 2003).

The aim of the book is to make a short historical overview of the development of Romani litarture with illustrative materials to visualize the text and popularize the written literature of the Roma. It is accompanied by a CD with Multimdeia presenting books and materials for Romani kids produced across Europe. It presents research work implemented by the author as part of Studii Romani team participating in campUSCulturae project.

Romani literature in Europe from its birth until 1980s

It was in the first half of the 20c, when Romani language started to be used in print, but the idea for necessity of such publications could be dated back decades earlier. Throughout the 19 c. in the region of South Eastern Europe started a process of endeavours national for emancipation, e.g. formation of nation states for ethnic communities living at that time on the territory of the Ottoman Empire and led by their elites. In the Balkans the endeavours for national emancipation in this period were typically related to struggles for independence of the (national) church and recognition of the (national) language through its usage in church service and education. In this context, it is no wonder that at the end of the 1868, in the course of a general discourse for national emancipation, were publicly raised demands by Roma themselves to have church services and education in their own language. This year the Bulgarian newspaper Makedonija published in Istanbul "A letter to the editor" signed by an "Egyptian" (i.e. Gypsy). The author of the letter was Ilia Naumchev from Prilep who used arguments to plead for the right of the Gypsies as an ancient people to have religious worship in their own language and for the necessity of "making a

9



society and taking care of education" (Marushiakova / Popov 1997; Marushiakova / Popov 2000). Despite the fact that these demands were far from their realization, they are a sign that Roma / Gypsies communities' development were much influenced by the general developments of the region in which they live.

First written texts in Romani

In mid XIX c. the Austrian Gypsologist Heinrich von Wlislocki published verses presented as poetry written by Gina Ranjičić, Serbian Roma woman. According to Wlislocki's notes Gina Ranjičić was born in 1830 somewhere in Serbia. Being adopted by an Armenian family living in Belgrade she was able to read and write. Wlislocki published verses which were presented as written by Gina in a book entitled *Gil Rromane* (Romani Songs), published in 1864 in Sweden and believed to be edited by Wlislocki, who also edited the text. Despite the fact that data about Ranjičić original works is quite uncertain and it is very probable that this is just a mystification, some Roma activists and researchers regard Ranjičić as the first Roma author.

While publishing in Romani is a later phenomenon when compared to the publishing traditions of other languages, in regard to the first written texts Romani publications repeat the common pattern of most European languages – translation of the Bible is one of the first texts that appeared in Romani with the support of the British Bible Society. The Gospel of Luke was translated by George Borrow in Romani and published in Spain in 1872 (Bible. Luke 1872), while Bernard Gilliat-Smith at that time a vice-consular of Great Britain in Varna,



also translated into Arlii Romani dialect the same Gospel for believers in Bulgaria in 1912 (Bible. Luke 1912). In 1920s the newly created "Evangelical baptize mission among the Gypsies



in Bulgaria" published *Romano alav* (Romani word), a supplement to the evangelical periodical *Svetlinik* (Slavkova 2007: 77). Romani religious literature is not original in content,



11

however its novelty is in the translation and publication in Romani language. As a matter of fact religious literature production continues and, in the decades after 1990s, when in the postsocialist realities can be observed revivals of the religiousness, there is a boom of Romani language religious publications, primarily of various protestant denominations¹.

If we go back to the point made a few paragraphs above about the interrelation between the Romani communities' development and the general context of the states/region in which they live, we have to mention also the immergence and publishing activities of the Gypsy organizations established in the Balkan countries in 1920s and 1930s. Such organizations

established Bulgaria, were in Greece, Romania and Yugoslavia by grass-root movements among the Gypsies themselves who wanted to have citizens' rights for keeping distinctiveness specific their as communities (Marushiakova/Popov 2005). To promote and publicize their ideas among the mainstream society some of them published their own periodicals in the national language, but often the newspapers' names were in Romani to flag Romani identity. For example in Romania in the 1930s were published O Rom (Roma), Glasul Romilor (Voice of the Roma), Neamul Tiganesc (Gypsy People) and Timpul (Times) giving tribute to Gypsy organizations - in 1926 the first local Gypsy organization was founded,

¹ Sumnalo Evandjelje Isusko Hristosko e Jovanostar translated by Trifun Dimić. Belgrade: Biblijsko Društvo, 1989; O Neevo Zaveti Amare Devlesko Isus Hristos translated by Sulyo Metkov. Sofia: Union of the Church of the Seventh Day adventists, 1995; Ianostyr Svento Mištophenyben translated by Valdemar Kalinin. Dillenburg: Gute Botschaft Verlag, 1999.



while in 1933 was formed the General Association of Gypsies in Romania and their leaders elevating demands for education, employment, and civil rights (Achim 2004). Similar processes are observed in Yugoslavia, where the established in 1935 the Association of Belgrade Gypsies for the Celebration of the Aunt Bibia that published *Romano Lil* (Roma Newspaper) (Acković 1995).

Romani publications in Soviet Union, 1920-1930s

While all that was done prior to 1920s is rather sporadic effort and there was no particular state policy to stimulate Romani publishing, in scholarship the real beginning of the Romani literature is related to the period 1925-1938, when in the Soviet Union was developed a large scale state-supported initiative for book publishing in Romani that in terms of number of titles, print runt, genres and distribution is still with no parallels in the history of Romani publishing. This initiative was part of a greater political platform of the Soviet regime targeted smaller ethnic communities at (narodnosti), whose political and social integration was to be achieved by development of their language and culture. As a result, languages, Romani among them, in which nobody had never written before became literary, systems of spelling were formulated, original and translated books were published, textbooks were written. In 1925 in Moscow the All-Russian Gypsy Union was founded and in 1931 was founded Theatre "Romen" Moscow (Marushiakova/Popov in 2008b). Various Roma activists and educated persons were engaged in the process. Cyrillic script and the dialect of the Ruska Roma (or North Russian dialect) were the base for the language standard developed by the well-



known Roma activists Nikolai Pankov and Nina Dudarova. Publications were in the fields of social and political propaganda; popular science and fiction (of Roma authors and translations into Romani). Between 1931 and 1938, 292 various titles were published in Romani. Translations of classical works into Romani were made. Forty seven works by Roma authors (verses and prose) by Maxim Beslyudsko, Alexander Germano, Ivan Rom-Lebedev, Nikolay Pankova, Olga Pankov, etc. were published.

One of the most productive authors and activists of this period was Alexander Vjacheslavovich Germano, author, cultural activists, educator and translator, who was also a member of the Union of Proletarian Writers, "Kuznitsa" (Smithy) and founder of the Roma writer group Romengiro lav. The first Germano's literary work written in Romani, the story *Ruvoro* (Wolf Cub), appeared in 1926 in the first issue of the Roma magazine *Romany zorja* (Romani Dawn), edited by Germano himself (Kalinin/Rusakov). Germano's





original titles are *They called him wolf* and other stories (Germano 1933a), *New Roma are coming* (Germano 1933b), *Red Fires. Poems.* (Germano 1934), *Ganka*



Chiamba and other Stories (Germano 1935), *Poems and Songs* (1937), *Stories in song/in verse* (1960). His *Novels and Short stories* (1962) was published in the prestigious edition of "Soviet writer" publishing house. A common topic of Germano's poems is account of the nomadic past of the Roma which is described with love and nostalgia, but only as a counterpoint to the new life of Roma and all communities in the Soviet Union, since the past was related to insecurity, backwardness and poorness. As he writes in one of his short poems:

I remember those long childhood years

I remember the road, vans, wagons, I remember shiningly clear spring, I remember forests, the great pines, I remember fields and meadows and valleys,

I remember the taste and smell of wormwood crumple,

I remember strumming an early morning guitar, I remember touting the gypsy songs, I remember - not once they said: "Oh, it is clear Life is good ... Even, you are blessed!

But I remember: there was always a little bread for me My mother served it with tears.

(Satkevich 1974: 10; published in Russian, translation in English by S. Zahova)

Germano was also collector of Romani folklore and worked on an educational manual for teaching in Romani. He also translated Russian classical works into Romani as Alexander Pushkin's *The captain's daughter* and Maxim Gorky's *Makar Chudra*.

Bearing the spirit of the time lots of publications were targeted at political propaganda, among them Germano's *Džana neve Roma* (New

Roma are coming), published in 1933 by "Profizdat". It deals with the system of Gypsy collective farms and cooperatives. The book comprised of chapters that can be met in any propaganda publication of that time, as for example Dre kralitska berša (From the time of Czarism), Nacyonal'no pučibe angil Oktjabrsko revoljucyja (Question of ethnic groups before the October Revolution) and Syr dživinde Roma dre phurane berša (How Roma lived in old times). There is also content referring to the political slogans of that time: "[...] Kralitko Rossija sas bare staribnasa vaš tykne nacionalnostenge" (Czarist Russia was a prison for small ethnic groups.); "Vaš amenge – činďa o Lenino - uchtylla akana adaja kulturno revoljucyja vaš odova, soby te javas pherdes socyjalističeskone stronasa." (For us – wrote Lenin – a new cultural revolution has now started so that we may become a completely socialist

land). The work also expresses the communist look at the Gypsy *kulaks* - rich Roma either from a group of horse traders or cauldron makers, who do not want to lose their position and become part of the collective farming system (Hübschmannová 2002).

Germano created in all literary genres, including plots for theatre dramatic works, among which the first play staged at Theatre "Romen" in 1930s called "Life on Wheels".

Among the other Soviet Roma activists who wrote and published books were Nina Alexandrovna Dudarova, Nikolai Alexandrovich Pankovo, Olga Pankova, Mihaïlo Bezliudsko, Rom Lebedev, Evdokia Orlova, who worked on both authors' texts and translations.

Olga Pankova co-authored with Germano the young literature work Seryoga Laguno (Germano/Pankova 1933), and published two poetry collections *Our days. Poems* (Pankova 1933) and *Poems* (Pankova 1937) in which dominates glorification of the new regime and new life for the Gypsies and all the people in the state:

Homeland - Mother

Russia, Russia, you - my song! Russia, Russia - the light of my eyes! As a mother who has a big family, You love us equally, none as stepchildren.

As your own children, we love you ... Warmed by worm maternal hands, Gypsy daughters and sons And their multi-lingual countrymen.

Russia, Russia – endless space! Russia, Russia - one people! I say a word – a choir of thousands Will pick up and finish my song.

Disappeared the cursed shadow of the past

18

On a new road the peoples have gone. Over Russia is shining an endless day Increases the maternal glory of the Earth! (Satkevich 1974: 40, published in Russian, translated from Russian by S. Zahova)





Mihaïlo Bezlyudsko, also a member of the group of Theatre "Romen" published in 1933 two works, the revolutionary poetry collections *New life. Poems* (Bezlyudsko 1933a) and the story *Horse* (Bezlyudsko 1933b), about the life of the poor gypsy thief who became influenced by harsh conditions of existence, caught in a farm and became influenced by the forerunner of a new environment. Ivan Rom-Lebedev published in 1930 Destiny. Short Story, narrating about the fatal fate of Gypsies killed during an attempt to steal horses. Maria Polyakova published books for children as How Masha went to learn (Syr Masha gyja te syklel, 1930); The angry cock (Xoljamo bashno, 1930), Roma tales (Romane rakiribe 1931). Poems were also published by Evodkiya Orlova (1933), Vano Timofeevo (1936), Vano Hrustalyo. In terms of content the authors wrote mainly ideologically biased poetry, with the exclusion of Vano Hrustalyo (Hrustalyo 1936), one of the prominent actors of the Theatre "Romen" concertmaster and playwriter. His poems are in high culture poetic form and are primarily love lyrics and poems praising the beauty of nature. Hrustalyo's works are considered among highest achievement





of Gypsy poetry of this period (Kalinin/ Rusakov). The Roma poets published also their verses in two anthologies of Romani *Al'manaho Romane poeten*, 1931 and *Romano al'manaho*, 1934. In early 1930s school books were

also translated and published in considerable print run, as for example

Natural Science. For 4th grate of school (Estestvoznanie vash shtarto bersh sykljaibe) Basic Mathematics. For 3rd and 4th grate of school (Elementarno matematika. Vash 3 i 4 bersh sykljaube), Geography. Textbook for primary school (Geografija. Uchebnika vash nachal'no skolo).







21 _____

Н. КУЛИШЭР - БУНЦЭЛЬМАН

СОСТЫР НАШТЫ Тэ марэс чявэн

учгизо

The Romani literary landscape in 1920-30s in Soviet Union was comprised also of two journals – *Romani zorya* (Romani down 1927-1930) and *Nevo Drom* (1930-1933), in which literary works were published. In the very first edition of *Romani zorya* was published the story "Romano Bang" by Ivan Rom-Lebedev – narrating how the gypsy fortune teller fools using

improvised its rich Russian, becoming one of the first original prose works by Gypsy authors. Commixes with propaganda content and moral narratives were also published on the pages of the newspapers. Plots for plays were produced in Romani for Theatre "Romen" in Moscow.

In the late 1930s, however, Russian state policy towards the nationalities communities changed, so the state-funded platform for Romani publications ceased, and afterwards, similarly to other socialist countries, the production of Romani literature was result of sporadic efforts of Roma individual authors, publishing in their own Romani dialects or languages of the national republics where they live. Despite the fact that the publications were produced in a limited period of time of 13 years and their distribution and impact was limited only to a small circle of educated Roma in the bigger cities, the Soviet Union state funding project for Romani publications from 1920-1930s remains with no analogies in the history of Romani publishing in terms of number of titles, print run and variety of genres.

Books for Romani kids were not published, primarily folklore and translations of Romani authors from earlier periods were published.

Such authors in Soviet Republics were: George Kantia from Moldova, in Latvia Karlis Rudjevich, Leksa Manush, also linguist and researcher, poems were published also by Vano Romano (Ivan Panchenko), Nikolay Satkevich, and others.

In the Soviet Union after 1938, when the state initiative for Romani publications ceased to exist, publishing in Romani was very insignificant and publishing houses and editorials often refused to publish in Romani. Nevertheless, the cultural life of the Roma was not completely destroyed: publishing of text by Roma authors was possible, but they were published in Russian and publishing in Romani was purposely avoided. For example in 1970s Leksa Manush (pseudonym of Alexander Belugin) proposed for publication a poetry collection in Romani, but it was published only in Russian. Theatre "Romen" continued its performing with plays also exclusively in Russian. Example of the change in the politics of identity in regard to Romani language publishing is the author's development of Nikolaj Satkevich, prominent figure of the post-war period in Romani literature, writer and member of the Writers Union. In his early years in 1930s Satkevich published several poems in Romany in Almanaho romano (1934) and contributed to the literary magazine Romani Dawn, After 1945 continued to write poems dedicated to the Gypsy



way life translated and published exclusively in Russian – *Strings*. *Verses and Poems* (1972), *Gypsy Beads*. *Poems. Ballads* (1977), *Gypsy Sun*

(1982). He was editor and translator of the first Romani poetry Gypsy poetry anthology issued after 1945 Fires (Satkevich 1974), in which were introduced and translated in Russian the major name of the poets from 1930s (Alexander Germano, Nikolaj Pankov, Olga Pankova, Mihail Bezlyudsko, Nina Dudarova) and postwar poets (Ilko Mazore, Ivan Romano, Karlis Rudevich, Nikolai Satkevich). Similary to the other Roma authors, Satkevich was active educator and translator and he compiled a Russian-Romany dictionary and translated the Gospel of John in Northern Russia Gypsy dialect.

The books appeared due to the efforts of individual authors working in various places of the republics within the Soviet federation (e.g. no central organization was applied). Such authors in USSR were: George Kantia from Moldova, who published the collection Folkloros Romano - tales, songs and poems in Ursari dialect of the Gypsies from Moldova (Kantja 1970). In Latvia Karlis Rudjevich published poems and the ethnographer and linguist Leksa Manush published two poetry collections I Want a little horse (1973) and The Little Star (1976). Working on research of both Romani and Indian language, he also translated into Romani the Indian epic Ramayana published in 1990 in Chandigarh, India. Along with the original authors' works, there were also publications of Romani folklore. Alexander Germano also published a collection influenced by Russian epic folklore called Stories in poems (Rosphenybena dre gilja, 1960).



Romani language and culture in the context of Yugoslav Roma policies

Similar to the Soviet state in 1920-1930s, in the Yugoslav socialist federation after 1960s were created conditions in which the Romani literature and culture production flourished. As part of the Yugoslav ethnic policies proclaiming a hierarchical structure of the communities in the federation classified into three main groups (nations, nationalities and ethnic groups) Roma were granted a status of ethnic group and enjoyed measures stimulating the development of Romani culture. Yugoslavian Roma literature production was broadly stimulated; it is the most impressive in the Socialist Eastern Bloc after 1945. Whereas in all other countries demonstrations of Romani identity were forbidden, in Yugoslavia, the

involvement of the Roma activists with the international Romani movement and the state support for development of Romani identity politics led to a series of publications related to cultural expression in Romani Berberski, language. Slobodan partisan and comrade of Tito, the first International Romani Union President (elected at the London Congress in 1971), was pioneer in both the Roma movement and Roma poetry in Yugoslavia, publishing a number of poetry collections. He has published more than 10 books, all in Serbo-Croatian with Romani words and phrases in the texts. His first poetry collection were published in 1950 under the titles There will be a rainbow after the rain and Spring in the eyes (Berberski 1950a; 1950s). It was part of the cultural landscape in Yugoslavia in which expressions in Romani were officially used in discourse and in

cultural production. As a result, by the 1970s, 'Roma' was the term officially used. The Roma activists established a network of organizations under the umbrella organization Rom and started to realize Romani language productions with support from the government (Acković 2001). They also participated in international Romani movement with support from the government. Romani was used in various forms of expression and it was the language of the main characters in the film 'I even met happy Gypsies' (original title Skupljači perja, "Lather gatherers", 1967), which made popular the song Gelem Gelem, that few years later, in 1971, became the Romani international anthem at the First World Gypsy Congress in London. As a result in 1970-80s literature production by Roma authors appeared in some of the major cities of the federation

The established in 1971 in Skopje theatre Phralipe (Brotherhood) performed in Romani, dramas were also written and Shakespeare translations made for it. Topics of the works were very much related to Roma way of life and perceiving the world, and languages of publication were Romani and/or Serbo-Croatian. The singers Esma Redjepova and Šaban Bajramović created and produced songs in Romani, ethnographic works on Roma were published in all federative republics. In 1980 in Skopje was published a bilingual (Romani/Macedonian) grammar by the Macedonian Rom Šaip Jusup and the linguists Krume Kepeski. In 1986 the French linguist Marcel Cortiade, a strong supporter of development of Romani language standard, who later proposed the language codification accepted at the Fourth World Romani Congress in Poland (April 1990), published the bilingual (Romani/ Serbo-Croatian) *Romani phonetics and spelling*. The same year a congress dedicated to Romani language and culture was organized in Sarajevo.

In this stimulating atmosphere a number of authors in all Yugoslav republics started writing and publishing titles. It was the poetry genre that prevailed in their expression and only Alija Krasnići's productivity went beyond the poetry genre, including short stories, tales, dramas and novels. Rajko Đurić, who in 1969 published his first bi-lingual collection A gypsy searches for a place under the sun, was the first poet publishing in Romani (Đurić 1969). He continued publishing poetry in Romani and Serbo-Croatian in his later works Without a house, without a grave (Bi kheresko bi limoresko - Bez Doma bez Groba, Đurić 1979), Ancient word - a faraway world (Purano svato - o dur them/ Prastara re... Daleki Svet, Djurić 1980), *A and U* (A thaj U/A i U, Durić 1982).

Without a house or a grave 0 - 0 - 0goes my endless lament 0 - 0 - 0to my father-o my graveless father my homeless people toys of the wind dregs of the world Where then Where then from here? 0-0-0 to my mother-o gentle mother where is there a stone on which to raise me up that I might call your name? The sky is our cover and wherever I fly the ground is barren without a heart. Where then Where then from here? ... a life of wandering forwards, backwards





along the roads that time forgot.

(Hancock, Ian at al. 1998: 143-145)

Being an activist and researcher of Romani culture worldwide Rajko Durić was also an author of a folklore collection of Romani riddles (1980) and of the photo-album Gypsies of the World (Cigani Sveta). He is also among the first researchers of Romani literary scene on international scale and author of the first book devoted to the literature of Roma and Sinti (Djurić 2002). Being one of the internationally recognized Roma authors his poetry works were translated into several European languages (Djurić 1989; 1990; 1994) and he established the Roma PEN Center in Berlin in 1996. Another important Serbian Romaauthor is Jovan Nikolić who writes in Serbian,

but publishes his works with Romani translation. His first poetry book *A*

guest from nowhere (Gost katinedenar/ Gost niotkida, Nikolić 1982) published in 1982 was awarded a mainstream literary prize in Serbia. Again in Serbia, Kadrija Šainović published his first poetry collection in Serbo-Croatian Gypsy Intimacy (Šainović 1975) and Seljajdin Selijasor published his first poetry book in Romani Life among the Roma (Dzivdipe mashkar o Roma, Selijasor 1988). In Skopje, Macedonia, Iljaz Šaban, member of the Union of Macedonian Writers, published two poetry collections in Macedonian - Remembering the Immortals and The roots of my predecessors (1985), whereas the Romani manuscripts remain unpublished. The Skopije born Roma singer Muharem Serbezovski published also the poetry collection Colorful diamonds (Šareni dijamanti, Serbezovski 1983). In Kosovo, at that time an autonomous Yugoslav province within the Republic of Serbia, the

Th

Romani cultural production was part of the media and artistic landscape, including radio emissions in Romani. A number of cultural manifestations were organized with poetry reading of Roma. While poetry production prevailed in the Romani literature in Yugoslavia, it was only Alija Krasnići's output that went beyond the poetry genre, including short stories, tales, dramas and novels. He writes in many different literary genres. Apart from prose and lyric poetry he also writes children's books and dramas, and additionally works as translator from Serbo-Croatian into Romani. His main concern, which he deals with in a literary form, is depicting the life of the Roma in all its facets. He deals with suffering, privation, poverty and need, but also with the longings, the happiness and the every-day pleasures of the Roma in his region. (Romani project/Wogg).

Alija Krasnići published in literary journals in Kosovo, and his first book of short stories appeared in Albanian. In 1980s Alija published in Priština two bilingual (Romani/Serbo-Croatian) collections of short stories Tent's Fires (Čergarendje Jaga - Čergarske Vatre, Krasnići 1981) and Coming Back to Life (Iripe ano Đuvdipe. Povratak u Žhivot, Krasnići 1981), the Albanian language poetry book Weary nights (Krasnići 1988) and the epic poetry based on legends and folklore beliefs in Romani and Serbo-Croatian Star Dreams (Zvezdani Snovi/Čehrajine Sune, Krasnići 1989). Krasnići depicts typical picture characters and stories from the Romani communities full of warmth, real life stories and irony.

At the same period Bosnian born Roma living in Italy were also writing and publishing poetry and stories. Semso Advić, originally from Banja Luka, published his first poetry collection in Romani with Italian Čergarendje Jaga Čergarske Ali Krasniči Vatre

translation by Sergio Francese in 1985 (Advić 1985). In 1987 Rasim Sejdić, a gifted since the age of 14 poet and narrator, published Romani/ Italian poetry collection *Rasim poeta zingaro* (Sejdić 1987). Sejdic's stories, transcribed and collected by Giulio Soravia, consist mostly of tales, stones of the dead, ghosts and vampires

edins

and fanciful tales were published in Romani with an Italian translation in the journal *Lacio Drom*. Despite the fact that these works along with other publications by Bosnian Roma were published in Italy, it should be noted that they are related to the fact that the authors originated from Yugoslavia, where they were stimulated to start their first literary activities.

In the spirit of the multi-lingual and multi-national federation. several ideological books were printed mainly devoted to the figure of the Yugoslav leader Josip Broz Tito either edited or translated by Roma activists of the time. Šaip Jusuf, a Romani activists and linguist from Macedonia. translated We Are Tito's, Tito Is Ours, an ideological book originally published in Slovenian and translated into the languages of all communities living in Yugoslavia, including Roma (Zdunić/Vavpotić/Pavcek 1978).





Sait Balić was editor of the essay's book *Po Tito* (About Tito) translated in Romani and devoted to the life and deeds of Tito printed few months after his death in May 1980. In it we can read an overview of the whole historical, economic and political development put in the ideological discourse of the time: Andar o rat thaj praxo, tala vast e Titosko, barili Amari phuv. Nisave bavlala ništisarde te o Tito peraven. O Tito ando 1948. breš vaćarda i e Staljinose: Na! Kava. "Na!", phendo amare bahtaće, ašundilo ando sasto them. E Jugoslavija atoska arakhadili ande but phari situacija. No, o Tito kamla te Amari phuv džala piro drom, te ćerel peske pire vastenca thaj godjasa bahtalipe. Te na avel tala avresi roća, te na amare manuša trajin sar aver kamel.

[...]

O amal Tito o phralipe thaj jekhipe e narodongo thaj narodnosongo ande Amari phuv sajekh phirda po ilo. Vov sajekh vaćedla: "Araćhen o phralipe thaj o jehkipe sar tumari jakh!".

(Zdunić, Vavpotić, Pavcek 1978: 14)

Our country grew under the Tito's hand, over blood and dust. No kind of winds could destabilize Tito. In 1948 Tito told Stalin: No! This. "No!", he said for our luck, and it was heard in the whole country. In this way Yugoslavia

found itself in a very difficult situation. But, Tito wanted our country to go on its own way, to make with its own hands and mind its own destiny. Not to go under other's weels, and our people not to live as someone else want.

[...]

Always in the heart of our comrade Tito was the brother and unity of the peoples and nationalities in our country. He was always saying: "Keep the brotherhood and unity as your own eyes!"

(English translation by S. Zahova)

The other socialist states

For the historical approach of this book, when we analyse the developments of Romani literature in the socialist states in the second half of the XX c., it is appropriate to apply the classification of East European Roma policies proposed by Elena Marushiakova and Vesselin Popov. According to them these policies can be classified in two types and they depend on the general nationbuilding policies of the state: the first type are ethno-national policies that aim to create a single (ethno)nation and design measures specifically targeted at other minorities including Roma (such policies are characteristic for Bulgaria, Romania, Hungary, Poland, Albania) and second type of post-imperial policies that refer not to a single nation, but to a hierarchical structure of ethnic/ national communities. In the second type of policies Roma are concerned only as part of the mainstream ethnic/ national policies of the states (such examples are the Yugoslav federation and the Soviet Union) (Marushiakova/ Popov 2008a). Actually with the previous part about the developments of the Soviet socialist state in the years after the October revolution we have seen the example of the post-imperial policies towards ethnic/national

Th

groups, and Roma were not targeted specifically, but as an ethnic group among many others, who did not have literary tradition in the past. The part that follows will make an overview of the policies in socialist states that developed within the ethnic-nation policies paradigm and in Yugoslav federation as another example of postimperial model of national policies.

Whereas the development of the Romani literature in the Soviet Union remains limited in time and in the borders of the Soviet state, the first and most famous world's Roma poet is Bronisława Wajs, whose Roma name is Papusza (Doll). Papusza's poetry bi-lingual (Romani/Polish) collection *Songs of Papusza* was published in 1956, edited in terms of orthography and annotated by Jerzy Ficowski, a long term researcher of the Polish Gypsies and government advisor on Gypsy issues, who published the most extensive study in Gypsies in the Polish territories. Jerzy Ficowski met Papusza at the end of 1940s and recognized her poetic talent. During her youth she learned on her own to read and write, so Ficowski encouraged her to write her verses phonetically in Romani, using the Polish alphabet. Ficowski then edited and translated them into Polish, without a single intervention in the content. Papusza's works often depicting pictures of the Roma traditional life and the relation between the Gypsies and the natural environment:

Poem

I love the fire as my own heart. Winds fierce and small/ Rocked the Gypsy girl And drove her far into the world. The rains washed away my tears, The sun-the golden Gypsy father – Warmed my body



And wonderfully singed my heart the Gypsy horse neighs, Wakes strangers But gladdens a Gypsy heart ... Oh how fine to live, in the night go to the river, Catch cool fish like cold water In your hand ...

In heaven the hen and chickens And the Gypsy wagon. They foretell the whole Gypsy future, And the silver moon, the father of the forefathers from India, Gives us light,/ Watches the children in the tent, Lights the Gypsy woman That she may swaddle the baby well.

No one understands me, Only the forest and river. That of which I speak Has all, all passed away, Everything, everything has gone with it– And those years of youth.

(Ficowski 1989: 114-15)

The poetry collection appeared with facsimiles of Papusza's original first records of the verses. Exactly because of her association with Ficowski (a supporter of governament policy for the sedentarization of the Roma in Poland), Papusza's own Roma community considered her poetic activities and presentation to Gadjo audience as government's tool in the destruction of the Gypsies' traditional way of life. She was finally expelled from her community not because of the use of writing itself, but the manipulation of Papusza's image to support the government's policy of compulsory sedentarization (Courthiade 1997: 40-41). Papusha's literary activities were constantly rejected and disapproved by her own community, because they contradicted the Roma traditional values. The published excerpts from Papusha biography reflect this conflict between modernity and traditional way



of life, which is also seen in her tragic destiny at the end of her life-path.

In 1962 Papusza became member of the Polish Writers' Union. Her poems were translated into German, English, French, Spanish, Swedish and Italian. She was also awarded Lubuska Culture Award (1958), Nadodrze Award (1978) and Gorzów Award (1978). The dramatic life-path of Papusza and her extraordinary talent were of interest for the artistic community in Poland and inspired several films and one opera performance. In 1974 Maja and Ryszard Wójcik made a documentary, Papusza, based on their own script and being consulted by Ficowski. In 1991 another documentary was made, The Story of a Gypsy, scripted and directed by Greg Kowalski with music by Jan Kanty Pawluśkiewicz, in which are showed documentary materials of Papusza herself, of Jerzy Ficowski, of her sister Janina Zielińska, of her son Władysław Wajs and her doctor Maria Serafiniuk. In 1994 in the open air Kraków Theatre presented the symphonic poem *Papusza's Harp* (Papusza comes from a family of traditional harp players), performed in the Romani language, with a cast of opera stars. The last creation inspired by the life of Papusza is the movie of the same name produced in 2013 directed and scripted by Joanna Kos Krauze and Krzysztof Krauze, with a soundtrack from the Papusza's Harp performance by Pawluśkiewicz.

In Bulgaria, for a short period, following the earlier Soviet model towards nationalities, in 1940s and 1950s, there were series of specially tailored measures in which Romani language and culture were stimulated. A newspaper called *Romano Esi* (Romani voice), later renamed in the spirit of the communist ideology to *Nevo Drom* (New way), on which

were published texts and poems primarily with ideological content about Communist Party and State Leaders (national and on international scale related to "brotherhood" socialist countries). An important figure in these processes was Shakir Pashov, founder of several Gypsy organizations in Sofia, including All-Gypsy organization for struggle against fascism and racism and for cultural elevation of the Roma minority in Bulgaria in 1945, also an MP from the Bulgarian Communist Party list in 1940s, editor of Romano Esi and co-founder of the Musical-artistic theatre "Roma". Example of such verses is the final of a poem by Aliya Ismailov, published in Romano Esi (number 10 from 30 April 1948 г):

Do not be ashamed you, comrade, today are bright, fateful days that "Gypsy" they call you – of spirit and faith do not fall Turn around and look, who is fighting for you and present him salutes to Comrade M. Pashov. He fight as a fighter for justice and equality to connect us with love, pride with the Bulgarian people.

Dams and tunnels fraternal, we will jointly build inspired by the strength, pride, by Comrade M. Pashov.

Long live Stalin, Tito, Dimitrov and Comrade M. Pashov.

(Published in Bulgarian, translation in English by S. Zahova)

These policies were replaced since the 1960s by new measures guided by the principle that the culture of all non-Bulgarian ethnicities does not have a place in the official state policies, demonstration of Romani culture was forbidden. In 1955 the Roma poet Usin Kerim, professional writer and later member of the Union of Bulgarian
Writers (being the first union's member of Gypsy origin), published Songs from the Camp (later published in another edition from 1977) in Bulgarian and later continued to depict Romani traditions in his works. Whereas many poems depict plots or motives from the Romani way of life (either personally experiences by the author or just imagined/observed/ narrated by him), for example poems as "Songs for Atta", "Babaxak", "I'm born", "A night in the maxalla", "I long for a horse", "I'm a Gypsy", others bear the signature of the time and have ideological content and are devoted to love for the Party, its leaders and the country (as for example "Homeland Rodina"). "Dimitrov" [communist party activist], "To the Party". Usin Kerim wrote exclusively in Bulgarian and remains the most famous Gypsy poet of his time. One of the poems from the collection Songs from the *tabor* is named "I'm a Gypsy" and treats the topic of the progress that the Gypsies had made from the time of their nomadic years to living and integrating in society:

I'm a Gypsy. My barefoot childhood faded away with a camp under cool nights. But I do not wear a knife in my pocket and do not stalk to steal your horse! I'm a Gypsy. I ate of cachet, I wrestled a bear in heat and snow slush. But I do not sing out of grief like by grandpa – I got home and write a book!

Once they took away my games I wandered ragged - a live scrofula ... But [look] how today in modern clothing my both kids are playing!

I swam in water, but not with tray winged horse has more than once lured me?

I saw countries which until today

my dad has not seen even in his dreams!

Let lap an impetuous rain, the sky to bang and to moan an evil storm. my night is lighted not by firebrand, but by electricity and I grapple the world with antenna.

(Kerim 1977: 135, published in Bulgarian, translation in English by S. Zahova)

Roma individuals, some of whom after 1989 became activists and book authors, published poems in Bulgarian in the journal *Nevo Drom* that continued to be published with the support of the Central Committee of the Bulgarian Communist Party – Kamen Kamenov from Vratsa, Sali Ibrahim from Sofia, Asen Markov from Pleven, Dimitar Sotirov from Botevgrad, Georgi Parushev from Sliven, In 1970s Parushev proposed his poetry collection to one of the major publishing houses, but the collection was not printed since it treated mainly characters from the darks-skinned minority in a time when in the official discourse it was forbidden to speak about and use the term 'Gypsy' (Kolev 2010: 67). The Bulgarian ethnic/ national policies were related to creation of a Bulgarian ethnic nation and no other ethnicities were allowed to reveal identity other than Bulgarian. Therefore the creative expressions of all citizens were supposed to represent the Bulgarian national culture.

The model of ethno-national policies of identity were characteristic also for most of the countries in the Socialist block – Romania, Hungary, Albania. During the Communist period in Romania Gypsies, who were given jobs on state farms and in state factories, were supposed to become part of the Romanian nation. Pentecostal missionaries worked underground, and in 1979 St. John's Gospel was



translated into Romani and printed in the Netherlands for smuggling into Romania (Kenrick 1998: 201).

In Hungary as well, the production of Roma authors was in Hungarian and they were part of the mainstream literary scene, which corresponded to the Hungarian state's concept of the nation as union of all citizens in the state and of Gypsies as part of the Hungarian nation. Gypsy authors were, thus, considered part of the Hungarian national literature and authors - Menyhért Lakatos, Károly Bari, József Choli Daróczi and Attila Balogh are part of the Hungarian literature canon and prior to 1989 publish only in Hungarian, with translations of their works from Hungarian to other languages in the Socialist block. However, portraying the life of Hungarian Roma was one of the major topics of the works of the Hungarian Roma authors.

The Hungarian Roma writers and intellectuals start to be active since the beginning of 1970s.

Károly Bari, an ethnologist by profession, published his poetry collection *Holtak arca föle* [Bari 1970]. Being a folklorist, painter and translator, Bari has thoroughly studied the oral tradition of the Roma.



He depictis the Romani culture in his poems. Few years later, Menyhért Lakatos published his novel *Smoky Pictures* (Lakatos 1975), which has earned an international reputation and was translated into many other languages after its success in Hungary. The book is autobiographical and narrates about the life of a Roma family over three generations, often describing typical scenes from the Roma community life.

Along with Bari, Attila Balogh and Oszkár Farkas are among the most recognizable Roma poets in Hungary (Farkas 1975; Balogh 1980). Balogh has published both poetry and prose. József Choli Daróczi, a famous Romani activist, who published poetry, was teacher and member of the National Gypsy Council. He was author of Romani dictionary and educational text book and edited the first anthology of Gypsy poetry in Hungary *Black Coral* in 1981 (Choli Daróczi 1981). A folklore collection that was prepared in 1980s under his editing was published under the title *In the haggard face of God* (Choli Daróczi 1990) that comprised of both Hungarian and Romani texts.

In 1980s, during the so-called Kadar era were published two Romani newspapers Rom Som and Romano *Nevipe* that provided space for publishing of works by Hungarian Gypsies (Crowe 1991). Although the general ethnic-nation building policies assimilationist policy did not tolerate Roma attempts to develop an ethnic or nationalist identity, in the 1980s regime did permit cultural expressions and Roma were allowed to perform their songs and dances and several associations were set up by the state to finance and control Roma activities. In this context throughout 1980s were published also several volumes

Th

of Romani folklore, collected and commented by famous Gypsy culture and music researchers. The Gypsy traditional stories narrator Janos Berki has published Tales of János Berki Told in Gypsy and Hungarian (Berki 1985). Olga Nagy, produced several volumes of folktales narrated by Roma starting with the edition The Ten [Fingers] of a Gypsy of the Alps: Tales Told by Gyula David (Nagy 1985) and Gabor Grabocz and Katalin Kovalcsik also published the collection Mihály Rostás: A Gypsy Story Teller (Grabocz/Kovalcsik 1988). Songs in Romani with Hungarian translations were published as well (Szego 1977; 1980).

In Czechoslovakia in the late 1960s, as a result of the Prague Spring in the general course for political liberalization and creation of 'socialism with a human face' were also existing conditions for immergence of Romani literature. The Slovak Roma founded the Union of Gypsy-Roma in 1969 with union's journal *Romano lil* (Romani Paper, 1969-1973), that became a place for publishing of pieces by Roma, mainly poetry and short stories. Despite the fact that the Union of Gypsies Roma was disbanded in 1973 its activities were related to the first attempts to linguistic codifications and writing in Romani and had a great effect on the development of publishing by Roma authors. Dezider Banga, who prior to 1990s published only in Slovak, printed his first poetry collection in Romani *Song above the wind* (Banga 1964).

The journal *Romano lil* was written in Czech, but it also was a tribune for publishing in Romani and by Roma authors. Andrej Pesta, a Roma activist and author himself, was editor of the Roma authors' column. The pioneering attempts were done by Tera Fabiánová, who wrote her first short stories in Romani, followed by Andrej Gina,



verses by František Demeter and Andrej

Pesta, works by Ilona Lacková, Daniel Bartolomiěj and Tera Fabiánová's son Vojta and others.

Tera Fabiánová is considered to be among the most important Roma authors, who deals with various themes related to the Romani culture identity: such as why Roma try to hide or deny their origins, and the friendship with animals, which, like people, are part of nature (Hübschmannová 1991). One of her first tales is Le Romeskero suno (Dream of a Gypsy): A Roma crane operator (the professional occupation of Tera as well) experiences clinical death after an accident and gets to heaven for a while. He expects Roma and Whites to be treated as equals, but is surprised to see one entrance for Gadže and a special entrance for Gypsies. The tale "A Gypsy Dream", in Czech translation, was broadcast on Czechoslovak radio in the mid 1960s. At the end of the story the Gypsy returns to life and his beloved family. Andrej Gina was active in the Union of Gypsies-Roma until its dissolution. In the 1960s, following a friend's suggestion he recorded the tales narrated by his mother. His collection in Czech language was proposed to a publishing house that refused to print it, so Andrej published primarily in periodicals. Andrej Gina continued to collect fairy tales and other stories narrated by Roma, however making authorized works. His collection of tales in Romani was later published by the short stories collection Wedding (Bijav 1991). The publications were in the most cases published by the small 'Samizdat' house first ran by Milena Hübshmannova, a long time researcher of the Romani culture and language, who played an important role also as a motivator and promoter of writing and publishing in Romani.



'Samizdat' publishing house was later managed by Margina Rejznerová.

Along with Tera Fabiánová Elenka Lacková is one of the oldest Roma writers. Lacková was born into a musical family living in the East Slovak Romani settlement and was the first Romni graduated from the Philosophical Faculty of Charles University in Prague. Lacková worked among Roma as a regional cultural inspector, later also involved in the activities of the Union of Gypsies - Roma. She wrote several theatre plays, one of which, Zuzik, was emitted on the Czechoslovakia radio in 1985 and was awarded the prestigious Bohemia award. Later, after 1990s, she became internationally famous with her autobiographical book I was born under a lucky star to be mentioned later. The first (bi-lingual) collection of Romani poetry Romane Gil'a was published in Czechoslovakia in 1979. Other publications in both Romani and Czech language were folklore collections as traditional tales collection under edited by Milena Hübschmannova, who was the most active and stimulating researcher in the Czech Republic.

In countries with ethno-national paradigm, Roma authors published only as part of the national literature canon in the official languages of the state, though many of them had chosen topic related to the Romani culture and way of life. Texts in Romani were published primarily as folklore. This principle is valid for most of the states and in Czechoslovakia as a result of the local political conditions Romani authors had the opportunity to publish in their mother tongue in the Romani periodicals. The policies in the postimperial states which are not focused on the creation of a single nation are stimulating the development of various ethnic/national communities

within the states. That is why the national policies in the Yugoslav federation stimulate the development of the Romani literature and after the Soviet state funded project from 1920s-1930s we may claim that the developments in Yugoslavia are the second largest initiative in the development of Romani publishing as production and variety of genres, though lacking the scale (in terms of print runs, strategy and number of titles) and state funding known from the Soviet Union before the WWII.

Western European states

The social, political and cultural differences existing between the countries of Eastern and Western Europe are also revealed in the situation of the Roma communities, the policies towards them and respectively the development of Romani literature. As it has been already stated in Romani Studies, historically Eastern European Roma had a higher level of social integration into society, counting their inclusion in various social fields - education, labour, etc. (Marushiakova/Popov ???). In regard to literature, while there were individual authors in some of Western European countries who wrote in the language of the nation-state, there was no publishing in Romani by 1980s. With the exclusion of Sweden, there were no particular policies to facilitate Romani literature production. In terms of production, the number of titles published in Western Europe is even smaller when compared to Eastern Europe. In terms of genres novel is almost exclusively the genre of production by Western European Roma by 1980s, while poetry had been prevailing in the works of Roma in the socialist countries. Two periodicals,

Th

Etudes Tsiganes published since 1955 in France and *Lacio Drom* published since 1965 in Italy became a space for publishing of folklore and authors' texts and by Roma from both Western and Eastern Europe (for example, Vanya de Gila Kochanowski and Leksa Manush were publishing oral stories in *Etudes Tsiganes*). The Italian journal *Lacio Drom* has published transcriptions of tales, fiction stories, testimonies and authobiographical narration collected on different occasions and among various groups.

Mateo Maximoff is considered as one of the most important authors in Western Europe. Starting with his first novel *The fates* (Les Ursitory, 1946) he published 11 books in French translated so far into 15 languages, few stories in Kaldrash dialect in *Etudes Tsiganes*, and, being Evangelical pastor, translated the New Testament in Kalradash Romani. He embodied Romani ethno-culture in all his works, revealing customs and believes characteristic for his Roma group - as o bang (the Devil), o mulo (the dead) and o chohano (the vampire), pativ (honor, respect) since as he stated in the foreword of one of his books (La Septieme fille), the word Gypsy is usually related to stereotypical images as freedom, song, half-bared dance that have nothing in common with the Roma laws. Among his novels are The Prize of Liberty (Le Prix de la liberté, 1955), Savina (1957), The seventh daughter (La septième fille, 1969), Condamned to survive (Condamné à survivre, 1984), Vinguerka (1984), Mameliga's doll (La poupée de Maméliga, 1986), Say it with tears (Dites-le avec des pleurs, 1990), This world which is not mine (Ce monde qui n'est pas le mien, 1992), Roads without caravans (Routes sans roulottes. 1993) and The travelling people (Les



gens du voyage, 1995), *The Angels of Destiny* (Les Anges du destin, photos de Claude et Marie-josé Carret, 1999). He wrote all of his works, apart from a few of his mostly unpublished stories, in French.

Another novelist whose work is analogous to the contribution of Bronislawa Wajs Papusza in poetry and Mateo Maximoff in novels is Veijo Baltzar, whose origin is from the Finnish Kale. He had become





an important figure in the Finnish literature since the publication of his first novel *The Burning road* (1968), after which followed seven others *Verikihlat* (1969), *Mari* (1970), *Black Sarah's crystal ball* (1978), *Serpent* District Stone (1988), Black bars (1990), Phuro (2000), In love and war (2008). All his novels, dramas, articles are written in Finnish in one of the biggest Finnish publishing houses and their main characters are Roma.



Covers of Veijo Baltzar's novels

Spain's Gypsies had also contributed to the Romani literature landscape in Western Europe - Jose Heredia Maya published drama works, poetry collections and two novels in Spanish, most known among which is the drama *Camelamos naquerer* (1976), and two novel published in 1980s. In Spain in 1982 was published the first Romani version of Children bible. In Sweden in the early 1970s started initiative for educating the Roma children and the "Nordic Roma Council" was founded in 1973. Since then books have been published to support the Roma children education in their mother tongue and literature for children in Romani was written.

The most remarkable author is Katarina (Rosa) Taikon (1932-1995),







who in 1964 published Gypsy Poems in Swedish (Taikon 1964) and then the book *Wonderers* (Taikon 1970), and afterwards the *Katitzi*-series of popular children books, translated into many languages and several Romani dialects.

Władysław Jankowicz-Mikloš, has written a twelve-poem epic *O Tari thaj e Zèrfi* (Tari and Zerfi) about the impossible love of two youngsters. Along with the original books by Katarina Taikon and Alyosha Taikon, there are translations of children's classics as Astrid Lingrend or books by contemporary author Gunilla Lundgren, one of the most prominent children authors in Sweden who devoted some of her time to working with Roma on their books. Her first





book devoted to Roma was *Maritza*, one Gypsy Girl, published in 1972 along with three Gypsy girls. In the other Scandinavian countries, some folkloristic publications appeared not in Romani, but in the majority languages (Skoghol/Lilleholt 1978).

Joseph Doerr dit Coucou, a musician and artist from the French Manouche. published in 1982 his authobiographical novel Where are you going Manouche?. It was published by Wallâda publishing house that later on played an important role as publisher of works by Roma authors. It is noticeable that the genre of memoir books is the most common and exclusively preferred by the Roma and Sinti in Germany and Italy. The memoir literature in the German speaking countries deals with the topic of the Romani Holocaust, which should be viewed in the historical context of immergence of the political, scientific and public discourse on the Roma Holocaust after 1970s, including its importance in the international Romani movement. From 1970's onwards Roma activists have been constantly raising the issue of compensating the Gypsies as victims of WWII, using the history of Holocaust to strength the Roma identity and unity. Narratives about the Gypsies/Roma as "eternal victim" during their whole history is developed in the works of some Roma activists (Marushiakova/Popov 2005).

In Germany the autobiography publications by Sinti authors started with the book published in 1984 under the title *The Liberation of Latscho Tschawo. The Life of a Sinto living in Germany* (Tschawo 1984). A year later Philomena Franz, Sinti woman and Auschwitz survivor, published her autobiography *Between Love and Hate* (Zwischen Liebe und Hass), and later



continued publishing tales and poetry (Franz 1985).

The Austrian Lovara family of Stojka's, survivors of the Holocaust and the internment at Auschwitz and Bergen-Belsen, is the most productive and well known. Ceija Stojka published her first autobiographic book in 1988, We Live in Seclusion (Stojka 1988) as memories of a Romni concerning the Nazi persecution of the Austrian Romani people, later continued in 1992, with Travellers on This World. Filomena Franz and Ceija Stojka are often compared, since they are considered as the pioneering examples of Sinti and Roma women who opened up the memories narratives of Holocaust survivors among the two groups. Both women in their works also demonstrate a strong identity narrative about their group belonging – Franz to Sinti in Germany and Stojka to the Austrian Lovara.



Despite the several general parallels that could be drown upon, one major difference is demonstration of identity through language – Franz writes only in German and never provides writing samples of Sinti language, while Stojka

has many Romani phrases, especially when narrating about her family. One possible interpretation of this fact is

when narrating about her family. One possible interpretation of this fact is that there was official position of the Head of the Central Council of German Sinti and Roma, Romani Rose, in these years was that Sinti language should be kept within the community and no publications or phrases in it should be published, whereas this was not the case with Romani, especially in Austria, when in 1980s started processes for recognition of the language and cultural rights of the Roma within the country. It is also interesting to note that at that time Franz and Stojka were not aware of the existing of each other's works, despite the fact that both were published in German in two neighboring countries, which shows us that at this time the development of Romani literature still remains in the borders of the nation state in which the authors publish. In 1988, the same year of publication of Stojka's book, another title is published in Germany, *Gypsy life: The life story of the Roma musician and lute player* by the Sinto Adolf Boko Winterstein (1988).

The first Sinto memoir book in Italy, Tzigari was published in 1975 as a result of the collaboration between a researcher who transcribed and indented the text and the narrator Giuseppe "Tzigari" Levakovich, a Sinti partisan participating in the movement against the fascist forces in "Osoppo" brigate. Another autobiography book by a Sinto Piedmontese Michele Iussi edited by Armando Brignolo, was published in 1980s, Sinti, A World of Living and explicitly speaks about the Sinti life style, explaining for the general reading audience and stressing on the particularities of the Sinti and their difference with the others, strengthening the outsiders stereotypes about them:

TS

53

For us, Sinti, to party, it was not necessary to have a particular pattern, it was enough that someone wants to party and the remainder was made of [...]. Some Sinti were very proud of their art, their music, few could have a career in the show, because it was really artists. I remember a friend, when he playing, he was crying because of the emotion, and he played only us, he felt humiliated to play for others (gadjé) (Trevisan 2008: 94).

There are also authors who do not have Roma ethnic origin, but are regarded as part of the Romani literature scene, and according to the definition from EU Framework for National Roma Integration Strategies are Roma. Since 1960s in UK were published a number of autobiographies and autobiography novels of Travellers as these of Dominic Reeves who published in London (*Smoke in the Lanes*, 1958; *No Place Like Home* 1960), The Irish Traveller Nan Joyce (*Traveller: An Autobiography*, ed. Anna Farmar, 1985), Silvester Gordon Boswell (*The Book of Boswell: Autobiography of a Gypsy*, ed. John Seymour. London: Gollancz, 1970), Betsy Whyte (whose first book *The Yellow on the Broom: The Early Days of a Traveller Woman* was published in Edinburgh in 1979). Apart from autobiography books in the UK was published a poetry anthology *Gavvered All Around* (Binns 1987) and folklore collections (Williamson 1989; Williamson/Williamson 1987).

The Swiss born Mariella Mehr from the groups of Yenishe, published her first novel in 1981 (*Steinzeit*) and since then she has produced 15 books. Her work is defined by her experience of displacement, brutality and alienation as a persecuted ethnic minority and victim of Pro Juventute's assimilation programme. In all Mehr's works the central theme has always



been concerned with the socially disadvantaged, women, children, Yenish, prisoners and the victims of psychiatric treatment (Finnan 2000: 148), which was probably the main reason for Mehr's insisting on identification as Roma author and with the Roma as a group perceived as a socially disadvantaged minority. She was one of the main initiators for the later creation of the International Romani Writers Association.

As for the publishing outside Europe with influence in the Romani literature scene in the period prior to 1989 we have to mention Ronald Lee, Roma activists born in UK living in Canada who has published the novel *Doddamn Gypsy* (1971) that was widely known and translated into several European languages (among which Spanish, German, Italian, Czech, Russian and Serbian).

In regard to the overview of the Romani literature by 1980s we may point out that up to this moment we can speak about developments on a national scale that took place within the individual countries. The development of the Romani literature at that time is



very much dependent on the national context and was influenced by the type of policy towards minorities and political conditions in the countries themselves. Despite the political steps for internationalization in 1970s and immergence of the international Romani movement, there are no signs for internationalization of the literary scene - neither do the Roma authors nor reading audiences interact across borders. As it has already been mentioned as example, even though of the neighboring countries of publication, common topic of the Romani Holocaust and German language of the books, Filomena Franz and Ceija Stojka were not aware about each other's existence in 1980s. There are some steps undertaken for publishing activities across borders - the Latvian Roma Leksa Manush published in the Italian based Lacio Drom for example, as well as some authors/collectors published in Etudes Tsiganes. The prevailing language(s) of literary production was in the languages of the official majority language of the state and in Western Europe there were no publications

in Romani language, apart from single phrases within books by Roma authors or in publications of folklore with the respective translations (as in scientific journals). In Eastern Europe, where the level of social integration (in terms of participating in the educational system, labour, etc.) of the Roma groups had been considerably higher when compared with Western part of the continent, the number of Roma who were publishing literary pieces was also higher. In some of the countries, particularly those with ethnic-national state model the language of the publications was the country's majority language and the Roma authors were not explicitly and publicly presented as Roma (although there ethnic origin was generally wellknown). These authors were considered as part of the national literature scene and the most prominent of them were members of the national union of writers. However in the socialist states with post-imperial state-building (as Romani Soviet Union in 1920-30s, Yugoslavia after 1960s) and in Czechoslovakia in 1980s are existing political conditions stimulating/ supporting production in Romani language and by authors presented and promoted as Roma. In terms of genres the prevailing genre in Eastern Europe is poetry, with examples also of tales and short stories, whereas in Western Europe we have the first fiction publications in the genres of novel memoir/autobiography and book.

Regardless of the genres varieties and language of publication in all works by Roma authors we can see depicting and describing the Roma way of life in a different from – in poems authors often refer to the Roma and their image as wonderers, or the relation between the Roma and the nature;



the tales and short stories by Roma authors are often treating the some traditional believes and narratives popular among the Roma community to which the author belongs, novels are narrating among the destiny of Roma families/Roma characters and the autobiography books treat the author's destiny on the background of historical events, most important among which remains the Romani Holocaust in Germany and Austria.

Internationalization of the Romani literature after 1990s

In 1980s and 1990s The Council of Europe had a proactive position regarding the status of Roma and support of their language and culture, issuing various recommendation documents for Romani language, culture and education of the Gypsies children in Europe (Liégeois 1987; Liégeois 1994). Romani is one of the languages mentioned in the European Charter for Minority and Regional Languages of 1992 and many of the countries in Central and Eastern Europe in their transition to democracy were about to ratify the convention, which also appeared to be among the measures for democratic rule requested by EU in the process of negotiation of the EU integration. After the regime changes in 1989 in Eastern Europe international actors had a considerable role to play with strategies and resources to support Romani language and culture development. The fourth (Warsaw) congress of the International Romani Union was important stage in the development of the international Roma movement. It took place in 1992, after the fall of the Iron curtain and in the context of the international discourse for democratization of European countries, the Eastern especially in regard to minoritiys rights, had raised important issues

58

- as the emergence of the concept of the Roma as a trans[border]-national minority (Marushiakova/Popov 2005) and had adopted a decision proposed by the Romani linguist and activist Marcel Courthiade for usage of a standard Romani alphabet, which so far was applied only in Romania, where this is the officially recognized standard of publications in Romani language. The idea of standardization and publications in Romani was discussed as an important issue ever since the First World Gypsy Congress in London in 1971. At the Romani Union congresses has always been existing a commission/committee for the Romani language and publications/ education in Romani. Both Romani International Union and international donors and programs (primarily with Open Society funding) had identified the Romani language as a symbolic that embodies Romani resource

identity and stressed on the importance of its preservation, documentation, development and free usage as means for communication for the cultural emancipation of the Roma. Activities for publishing in Romani and books by Roma were subsidized by foundations, international organizations, local and national government and nongovernmental organizations (Matras 2005). As a result we can speak about a flourishing of the Roma literature considerable production with in Eastern Europe and increasing of the publications in Western Europe as well.

Cross-boder developments

Globalization and IT technologies made communication across borders easier. Many international events provided contacts between authors. Translations and distribution of publications took place across borders,

while donors' programmes support the Romani culture production. And most importantly, there was a strong influence of the Romani movement and the ideas about the history and symbols of the Romani nation or the Romani people as raised by activists of the Romani movement at national and international level.

internationalization The and globalization of the Romani movement has not only influenced the development of the Romani literature and children books in particular, there is actually a very direct personal link: writers of books were very often themselves participants in the Romani movement. Roma writers in most of the cases are the Roma intelligentsija - people who at the same time activists (in the field of human rights, education, language, etc.), collectors of folklore, educators, linguistics, scholars or artists in the general sense. Thus, in their literary or any kind of Roma related work they express the idea about the Roma and in the absence of a standardized history they apply and promote ideas of the Romani movement about the Roma in general as would any national narrative do about the history of a nation. As examples we can point out the works of Hristo Kyuchukov from Bulgaria or Ljatif Demir from Macedonia, who are at the same time scholars, activists, educators, etc. and as such have created educational materials and books for Romani children. The activists who are writers, intellectuals, etc. actually work as narrators, affirming in autobiographical or history books for Roma children several of the most common narratives about the Romani people.

Despite the lack of statistics, a great number of publications appeared including collections of fairy-tales and folklore, poetry, memoir books,

Th

vocabularies and grammars, teaching materials, various translations, and many of them targeted Roma children. While prior to 1990s Roma authors were published and known within the borders of the state where they lived, in the decades after 1989 we observe features of internationalization and globalization of the Roma literature, as well as common tendencies in Roma literature production. Among the first formal evidences are the foundations of international organizations to unite/ benefit Roma authors. The Roma PEN Center, as member of a member of world writers' organization PEN, was established in Berlin in 1996 with President Rajko Djurić (then residing in Germany) and Secretary Johano Strasses. The centre was active for about a decade, during which it promoted Romani authors, published several issued of a newsletter Stimme des Romani, and in 2003 held an international competition for literary work on the Holocaust. In 2002 in Helsinki, where was based the Roma novelist Veijo Baltzar, was established in the International Romani Writers Association. Among its founders were Roma authors from both Eastern and Western Europe. Its aim was to promote Romani literature and foster international collaboration between authors. It provided opportunity for the writers member to communicate directly during the meetings held in Helsinki, its web site was also informative in regard to author's biographies and writings. However, the organization was active by 2008.

Another sign of internationalization if the organization of forums and awards open for Roma authors across the globe as the international *Amico Rom* literary award since 1994, that is managed by Santino Spinelli, who also runs a Roma culture festival *Amico*





62 –

Foundation of the International Romani Writers Association

Rom presenting different artistes activities including readings by Roma author who are guests of the festival. In Chandigarh, where is based the Indian Institute of *Romani* Studies and the half-yearly journal Roma has been published (both managed by Rajendra Rishi, a linguist and activists in the Romani movement), is regularly organized a Romani literature, culture and language session within the framework of the International Writers Festival in Chandigarh – India.

Th

To present the richness of Romani literature production and at the same time to symbolically present the unity of the Roma, were published collections presenting the works, primarily poetry pieces, of Roma authors from different countries. Poetry collections were published in Hungary, Italy, Sweden, Germany, and in the USA.

In the framework of international publication initiatives devoted to publications on Romani issues were set up series devoted to presenting and translation of Romani literature. In this way within the *Interface* collection that is developed in cooperation between the University of Hertfordshire Press and Centre de Recherches Tsiganes of the University of Rene Decart-Paris were published titles by Roma authors as the mentioned biography books of Ilona Lackova and Alyosha Taikon. In other cases of cross-border cooperation, were made individual translations of Roma authors from one language to author. For example, extracts from Veijo Baltzar's works were published in Czech translation in Romano Džaniben journal (volume 1 for 2010). The first works of Ceija Stojka and Mateo Maximoff were also translated in Czech. Rajko Djurić poetry was translated and published in German and French and published in the respective countries. The theatre play Kosovo mon amour of Jovan Nikolić and Ruždija Russo Sejdović originally written in Serbian was also translated into French (Nikolić/ Sejdović 2004). There are also some interesting examples of translations, such as the Arabic translation of Alija Kranići's book into Arabic.

As result of the migration flows of Roma from Eastern Europe to Western part of the continent in the years after 1989 (and in the case of Yugoslav Roma since 1970s), also many of the

Roma authors have migrated, settled and lived in another country that is different from their country of origin. They write and publish in the new country and in their work are seen the layers and signs of migrant's identity, which allow us to speak of Roma migrants' literature production. The works are typically written in Romani or the language of the country of origin and are translated into the language of the host country in order to present also both the Roma and the migrant to the reading audiences of the state in which they are published. As such an author can be considered the published in German, Miso Nikolić (1997; 2000), Jovan Nikolić (2006); Ilija Jovanovic (2000), the Bosnian *Xoroxane* Roma in Italy (Bello/Cizmic 1992), that are part of the Yugoslav migration from 1970s and 1980s.





Th

There are also Roma, whose migration was caused by the Yugoslav wars, primarily from Kosovo to Western European EU countries and are activists and writers, as Gjulner Abdulah in Netherlands who published a Romani/Dutch poetry collection (1995), and later a CD with poetry recordings.

Common Romani identity narratives

In the fourth period from the end of 1990s when we may speak about internationalization of the Romani literature scene there are common developments that are characteristic for the Romani publications. Among them is the immergence of common Romani identity narratives that are met in recent books for Romani children and correspond to the so called grant narratives (if we use the term of the nationalism studies school) of the Romani movement. Three easily identified common narratives in the period of internationalization are: the one about the journey of Roma from India (the ancestors' exodus narrative), the one about the Romani Holocaust (the victim narrative) and the one about the nomadic way of life as the core, the essence and pillar of the Romani ethnoculture (the nomadic ethos narrative/the nomadic narrative). Here are given examples of Romani children books created in the period of internationalization, stressing on the common Roma/Gypsy identity narratives and their relation to the ideas of the Roma people as a nation in the discourse of the Romani international movement and Romani political activism.

Particular interest for us are the autobiographical books and history books created for Roma children, their narration is always general (about the Roma) and is very political, meaning that it has do to with the policy of representation (of the Roma). In the literature the term "Roma" is affirmed as a self-appellation, and usually groups self-appellations or usage of the term Gypsy are avoided to endorse the Romani unity.

As a showcase we will have a look at three books from different regions – *The Legend about Gan and Ćen* produced in Romani by Darhija in Macedonia (Demir 2009), *Romanies. Picture Story* published in four languages (Romani, Polish, Bulgarian, English) in Poland (Romowie-Roma-Romanies 2011) and the bi-lingual (Romani/Swedish) picture and audio book *Marie-Claude one Romani girl* in Sweden (TaikonMelker/Eriksson 2010), containing the three common narratives.

The first type can be called the exodus narrative. In every national/ community narrative central role has the issue about the ancestors and the historical roots of the community. Despite the fact that on the level of legends and oral believes, and even in the personal narratives and public statements of Roma leaders, the idea about Egypt as the region of origin of the Gypsies still exist, in the literature pieces and history books is revealed the scientifically affirmed fact that Roma came from India. In the 70's the international Roma movement had very active relations with India and the Geneva 1978 IRU congress declared India as the mother-land of the Roma. Currently in all textbooks and popular history writings the migrations of Roma from India, and the route

towards Europe are discussed. The exodus from India has an important place not only because of the necessity for having narration about the origins and about the pre-pre-ancestors, but also because in a lack of a common state uniting currently the Roma, India's symbolic value as a state of origin where all Roma lived together, (from the point of the simple narration, not of the scientific punctuality, as there are discussions about were Roma one unity during their exodus, did they migrated at once, etc.), and which was thus "their country", their historical homeland allowing self-identification with a defined territory. The history picture book produced in 2011 in 4 languages in Poland narrates:

"Romanies originally came from India. In the middle of the first millennium AD they left **their country of origin** and headed west escaping from wars. Roma ancestors travelled through Persia and Armenia into the Byzantine empire. They remained in this area for a longer period of time, which is evident by the huge number of borrowings from native languages of those regions".

(Romowie-Roma-Romanies 2011: 3)

In a recent autobiographical bi-lingual picture book (2010), the narration of the small Marie-Claude also includes the issue about the origin of the Roma and of recent Roma migrations into Sweden. In the second page the girl presents her room:

"I like my room. I myself ordered it to be Indian style. I like everything that comes from India. They say the Roma came from India to Sweden. May be because of this I like everything that comes from India "

(Taikon-Melker/Eiksson 2010: 2)



The simple first name narration makes the message about We, the Roma much stronger:

"We were one people/nation that has been travelling around. We come from India. I do not know why we had left India. This was many, many years ago. My grandmother's grandfather came into Sweden from Russia more than a hundred years ago."

Another instance of a narration comes from a Macedonian book published under the editing of Romani activist Ljatif Demir, as fairy tale in a picture book. This is an interesting interpretation of the legend about Gan and Chen, commonly met in the oral folklore of the Roma living in the territories of the former Ottoman Empire and explaining the origin of the Roma from an incest marriage between a brother Gan and sister Chen, from whose union, were born the *chengene*, e.g. the Gypsies. The book however presents a shifted in a positive sense interpretation in which the Indian king's daughter, Chen, is adopted by the Roma and marries the Romani head's son. The book starts with:

"In the Indian kingdom, in one village, lived also the Roma. They were farmers. The Roma's head was Sherin, who similarly to the King of India was good and wise ruler. The Roma respected him because he was righteous head. They had lived peacefully and well until the richness of their kingdom has attracted conquerors from other lands. They wanted to conquer India and to rule the wealth possessed by the people who lived in this land." (Demir 2009: 2)

The second type is the victimization narrative. Probably the most common and representative narrative in autobiographical and historical

Th

literature books is the one about the Romani Holocaust. The history of persecution plays a significant role in defining the symbolic boundaries of many communities in their historical narratives, and this is valid for Roma too, which is called in nationalism studies victimization narrative. Many Romani efforts were targeted to establish an official memory of their genocide, Porrajmos, a term that belongs the "invented" ones, and to arouse worldwide attention to their suffering. They stress on their tragedy, emphasizing European, and particularly German, moral obligation, which means among other things, compensation as well as support in their struggle for civil rights. From 1970's onwards Roma activists have been constantly raising the issue of compensating the Gypsies as victims of W.W. II., using the history of Holocaust to strength the Roma identity and unity, which become central component of Romani national identity. While narratives about the Gypsies/Roma as "eternal victim" during their whole history is developed in the works of some Roma activists in 1980s (Marushiakova/Popov 2005) and was topic of autobiographical books by Sinti and Roma in 1980s in the German speaking countries, it was in 1990s when this idea spread in Romani children literature.

Here is the narration in Marie-Claude's autobiographical book:

"My ant Ramona told me that we the Roma have one sorrowful history. She wanted to tell me more about this, so she took me with her in a museum to see the photos about the Roma and the posters about the Second World War. We dressed in our most beautiful clothes when we went there.

There photos of people at my age. They were closed in the camps and they did not give them to eat. And because of this with the time many died. I was full of sorrow when I was thinking about them. I couldn't understand why they did that to the Roma. We are not bad people."

(Taikon-Melker/Eriksson 2010: 32-33)

The comprehensive historical version is found in the picture book from Poland, that provides some of the main historical facts and also introduces the term *Porajmos*, and invented from the elite term itself:

"World War II turned out to be the most tragic time of extermination. Many Romanies were sent to the Ghettos, were shot or deported to concentration camps. On 2nd August 1944 the Nazi destroyed the "Gypsy camp" killing 2897 Romani men, women and children at the Auschwitz/Birkenau camp. Romanies called this period "Porajmos", literary, devouring annihilation. In the years 1935-1945 not less than two hundred fifty thousand Romanies were killed."

(Romowie-Roma-Romanies 2011:)

And thirdly, a positive narrative counterpartying to the suffering of the victims is the romantic image and narration of the nomad traveler, the ethos of wandering as a Romani ethno-culture *per se*, even by Roma writers who belong to groups settled many decades ago. The legend about Gan and Chen ends with their exodus from India and the words:

"The village wizard cursed them [the Roma] to wonder in the whole world, not even once to sleep in one place, not even once to drink water from the same well and not even once to cross a river twice in a same year."

(Demir 2009: 24)



Practically every piece of work reveals the travelling Roma with horses who live in a joyful symbiosis with the nature.

Here can be added narratives about the Romani language, narratives about the Romani flag, about the 'typical' Romani occupations, etc. Actually these common narratives and ideas are foundnot only in children literature, but in all genres of Romani literature, end even in all art fields. The Romani children's books on historical or autobiographical topics are not only Roma self-referential, they are very much related with the policy of (re) presentation of Romani people through narratives marked by the Romani nation discourse of the international Romani movement. Thus, these books are presenting a generalizing collective values and identity narratives aiming to form Romani national identity in the absence of a standardized Romani national history/history books to narrate the historical memory.

Research on Romani literature

When we speak about the existence of a growing production and increasing of the interest towards the Romani issues in the political, public and scientific discourse, we have to also mention the immergence of systematic and critical approach in the research on Romani literature. So far the most comprehensive international study is the book "The Literature of the Roma" published in German by Rajko Djurić. Other research overview was produced by the University of Graz in its Rombase project and Roma history and culture factsheets project co-funded by Council of Europe. A bibliography of Roma publications was compiled by Peter Bakker and Hristo



Kyuchukov to support educators (Bakker/Kyuchukov 2003).

The Roma museums in Brno and Belgrade organized exhibitions devoted to Roma literature. Several issues of *Etudes Tsiganes* (vol. 9 in 1997 and number 36 in 2008 and number 37 in 2009) were devoted to Romani literature with proceedings from international scientific forums. Studii Romani has been organizing presentations devoted to Romani children's literature at the international book-fairs in Leipzig, Bologna and Frankfurt within the CumpUSculturae project funded by the Culture 1213 programme of the EC (http://212.72.210.78/sr-www/ studiiromanien.html), etc.
Genres and topics in contemporary Romani literature

Until now in all countries all over Europe where Roma live have appeared a number of publications for children varying from materials to support the education of the Roma to original books by Roma authors with tales, short stories, poetry and novels. These are primarily bi-lingual books written in Romani and the language of the majority in the country of publication, published under various circumstances, but most of them reflecting the Romani ethno culture. Nowadays, books for children have been among the most numerous publications written and published by and for Roma, because of the importance of the Romani children education and strengthening Romani culture and identity through it. Romani children literature, original and in translation, is among first genres to be developed dating back as soon as the immergence of Romani literature as part of fully (though for only a decade) developed Romani literary landscape in 1920-30s. in the Soviet Union to serve the needs of the Romani population and its enlightening the spirit of the new regime.

Instead of providing exhaustive list of the production and authors, which is anyway impossible, we would suggest a typology of the general genres and topics that prevail.

73 -



Educational materials

In all Eastern European countries, as well as in Austria, Sweden, Germany, Finland and UK are being produced **children books** and materials to support Romani children's education, as for example *Sikljova Romani čhib* in Macedonia (Jusuf 1996) and *Amen Roman Siklojas* in Austria (Glaeser et al. 1998).





75 —





Finland has been paying attention to the education of Roma and developed a publishing programme for educational materials, with the most prominent author the Romni activist Miranda Voulasranta.

76 -

Th

In present day Sweden, where are living Kaldaras Roma migrated to Sweden in the second half of the 20th c., but also Roma who migrated from Serbia and Macedonia as Yugoslav war refugees in 1990s, are published also educational materials adapted to the dialectical particularities of each Roma group. In this way there are textbooks with the same content and design, but published in different Romani language dialect.



This manner of publishing is not new – under the editorialship of Yaron Matras in Germany were published a set of educational materials in couple of Romani dialects (quote).







I romani dhib haj i literatira val o panato siklovipnasoo be





The most numerous textbooks production is in Romania, where the Romani language education is provided for all grades of elementary education and high school.

Gheorghe Sarāu • Ionel Cordovan I rromani chib thaj i literatūra vaš o dešto siklövipnasųo berš Limba și literatūra rromani Manual pentru anul X de studiu





78 -



In the materials targeted at developing the reading and writing skills in Romani are incorporated poems and tales of Roma authors from different countries, as for example in the four parts of the Romani learning textbook *Amari Romani Lumja* by Hristo Kyuchukov are presented Roma authors and folklore from all over Europe to demonstrate the Romani unity and to present to the children the richness of Romani culture and literature (Kjučukov 1997, 2000a, 2001b).













There are also lots of books with children's tales, bi-lingual or monolingual picture books and books with illustrations.

80 -



81 _____





Illustrated history books are a genre applied in the Romani children education.



83 _____

Recently have been published books for children, and also for adults narrating about the biography of a Roma personality or the Roma history from India to the Romani Holocaust (Hancock 2002; Taikon/Eriksson 2010). Other examples are of picture or commix story books narrating about a Romani personality.







Periodicals for children have been published as for example *Chhavorrikano Lil* (Serbia), *Luludi* (Slovakia) and *Miri nevi minimulti* (Austria).











84 —



Traditional folklore, tales and stories

If we have to speak about genres varieties, traditional folklore and oral stories, folk (fairy)-tales or traditional believes' narratives would have a leading place. They are either published as folklore material by Roma or non-Roma researchers with annotations, comments and information about the narrator or are published by Roma authors, who may as authors also transform them. In Eastern European countries the model of folklore materials production repeats the wellknown patter for the ethno-national states in the region that was developed in XIX and beginning of XX c. after the Herderian model for national emancipation through collection and publishing of a wide range of folklore materials, dictionaries, narratives about customs, traditional songs representing the national spirit. Thus, in earlier historical periods of time we have collections of Romani folklore that appeared parallel to appearance of folklore collections of the respective ethno-national states. Such is the example of Romani folklore tales collected and published by Barbu Constantinescu in 1878 in Romania, and more than a century later was republished by a Romanian publishing house (Constantinescu 2005). In Romania were also published new collections of Romani traditional tales under the editorial of Gheorghe Sarau, an educational expert and activist, who is the main figure in the development of Romani language curricula in all levels of education and Romani educational materials (Copoiu 1996). In all countries of Eastern Europe a considerable number of Romani tales collection were published with efforts of Romani education and language activists, to mention only few examples of Jossif Nunev from Bulgaria (Nunev 2003),



Mina T. QIRICI

Romët e Shqipërisë në Folklor Roma of Albania in Folklore O Folkloro e Rromengo tar-i Albania







Gy 250 Ján Cangár

ĽUDIA Z RODINY RÓMOV MANUŠA ANDAR E FAMILIA ROMA



Doplnková učebnica o dejinách a živote Rómov pre základné a stredné školy

CROQUIS



86 –



Ljatif Demir in Macedonia (Demir 1996), Károly Bari in Hungary (Bari 1996; 1999).

Publishing of folklore materials, however, is not characteristic only for the Eastern and Central European countries. Such collections, though in limited number, appeared also in all countries where Roma are living (Gjerde/Kristiansen 1994; Williamson 1994).

Some of the established Romani Studies scientists, being collectors of Romani folklore throughout their research, have become authors/ editors of series of volumes devote to Romani folklore materials. Elena Marushiakova and Vesselin Popov





have published five volumes of Studii Romani series with materials presenting the folklore, culture and language of the Roma communities in Eastern Europe (Marushiakova/Popov 1994-1997; Marushiakova/Popov/Igla 1998). The Romani Project research group at the University of Graz along with Drava publishing house published series of Romani folklore collected by Mozes Heinschink, a long term recorded of Romani folklore and languages materials in Europe. The volumes are classified mainly by Romani dialects' variety, e.g. collections of Lovara tales, of Gurbet tales, Erliji folklore materials, Kaldarash tales and narrative, etc. (Halwachs at al. 2000; Cech at al. 2001; Heinschink at al. 2006).

Folklore also influences all other genres in the field of Romani literature: many short stories published by Roma authors (as tales by Andrej Gina or Georgiji Tsvetkov for example) are based on modification or just writing of a traditional narratives and believes. In all novels by Roma are presented and described some of the traditional believes in the Romani worldview - as the life of the death (mulo). Poetry has also been influenced in both terms of content and form. Some poetic works are reflecting the Romani tradition by its presentation in the peotry narrative - the poem Bijav (Wedding) by Mihail Georgiev (2009) narrating about the wedding day of a bride married not to the one chosen by her heart. Other poems are influenced by the folklore as ways of expressions - there are poems in the form of or with phrases from the traditional lament or mourning performed on the Balkans (as Rajko Djurić's Without a Home, Without a Grave).

The boundaries between folklore tales and **short stories** are not clear, since the Roma culture is very close to the oral



tradition and sometimes the authors publish as authorized short stories a traditional folklore, or take an element from the oral folklore that is authorized by the author, thus becoming a new story. Such collections were published in almost all countries where Roma live. There are also examples of contemporary authors' stories that are not based on folklore as the ones by Slovak authors Tera Fabianova and Ilona Ferkova, or the Kosovo born Alija





Krasnići, who is the most productive short stories author.

As we have seen in the previous parts, publication of author's short stories was characteristic for the Roma from Czechoslovakia and this tradition continued after the democratic changes and the dissolution of Czechoslovakia into two separate states – Slovakia and Czech Republic. After 1990 appeared as a separate collections Andrej Gina's *Bijav* (1991) and Tera Fabiánová's *Sar me phiravas andre School / How I went to school* (1992), both solely in Romani. Tera has completed three years of elementary school and she narrated about her experience in the autobiografical story.

In 1990s started writing and publishing new talented Roma authors from Slovakia as Ilona Ferková, Erika Olahová, Margita Reiznerová, who narrate about contemporary Romani life. Ilona Ferková's stories that were published in two short story books *Spoiled his life because of money* (1992) *and Stolen Children* (Ferková 1996).

Erika Olahová who also began to publish in the 1990s writes in Czech and has published two collections of short stories - *I do not want to go among the dead* (2004) and *Matt Mirror*



(2007). Her works are mainly in the genre of short horror stories with the characteristic for the Roma authors of her generation humorous narrative through which are described the everyday personal troubles. Olahová is also referred to by some literary critics as one of the greatest talents of Czech women's literature (Sadílková 2009). Elena Lacková continued to write short stories published in periodicals. Margita Reiznerová, who is more known with her poetry works, has also written few short stories and fairy tales in Romani that were published in 1990s, the most famous among which is the fairy tale Kali dedicated to the patron saint of the Roma holy Kali (Šebková 2003).

Alija Krasnići has published several short stories collections exclusively in Romani language devoted to the destiny and life of the Roma communities, full of both humour and sadness (Krasnići 1995; Krasnići 2000)

Poetry

Poetry continues to be a genre favoured by Roma authors and actually many of the Roma activists and artists are publishing poetry books, proving the statement of Santino Spinelli, musician, lecturer and himself a poet, in his foreword to a Roma poets' collection (Spinelli 1997: 9) that every Roma is a poet. In Eastern Europe we have increasing of number of poetry publications compared to previous period, and also increasing of the poetry production in Romani - Dezider Banga who was earlier publishing in Slovak is already writing in Romani, and other authors who had written in the national languages, are being translated into Romani, as for example the poetry works of Roma authors from Hungary (Rom Som. Romane Poetongi Antologia/Anthology of Gypsy poets/ Ciganyok Költök Versei. 1995). Only in



Bulgaria for a period of 15 years after 1990 were published over 16 poetry books by contemporary Roma writers and a tri-lingual (Romani, Bulgarian, English) collection of Bulgarian's Roma poetry (Parushev 2002).





Among the Romanian pioneering Roma poetry (and short stories) author is Luminita Cioaba, from the famous Cioaba family, which is among the pretenders for the Roma King title in Romania. Luminita's first collection of poetry The Rain Merchant (1997) was published by her own organization Nevo Drom, which is a well-known model for publishing among the East European Roma – a non-governmental organization run by a Roma activist receives a grant from a donor to publish a book presenting Romani culture. Yugoslav Roma continued publishing in both their countries of origin (Krasnići 2000b) and in migration, as for example Jovan Nikolić in Germany, Ilija Jovanović in Austria, Šemso Advić in Italy (Advić 1993). In Western Europe there are some pioneering examples of poetry production written by local Roma - for example Italy and UK. In England are important the works of Ray Smith, author of the collection *One Hand Clapping* (Smith 1995), and Charles Smith (1990), as well as Ely Frankham, Josie Townley, Nathan Lee, Hester Hedges.

Whereas in 1980s were published poetry works only by Roma with origin from Bosnia, after 1990s started the 'indigenous' literary production by Italian Roma that could be divided by origin into Roma from Abruzzi (Santino Spinelli and Luigi Cirelli), Sinti (Paula Schöpf, Vittorio Mayer Pasquale, Olimpio Caro and Puco), and Istrian Roma (Toninato 2013: 87-96), living in Northern Italy. Santino Spinelli is the most active in the field of Romani publishing. Spinelli is Romani cultural activist and musician, who since 1990 leads the established by him cultural association Them Romanö, and is the editor of the homonymous review, issued every three months. He published two bilingual (Romanes/

Th

Italian) collections of poems, *Gili Romani* (Spinelli 1988) and *Romanipe/ Ziganitä* (Spinelli 1993). Luigi Cirelli (1994) published his poems *Without destination*. In 1991 Mansueto Levacovich, an Istrian Rom and human rights activist, published the collection *My Romani people* (Popolo mio dei Rom) in Italian. Among the female authors from Italy are the Romani Nada Braidic and Sinti woman Paula Schöpf.

An important part, however underdeveloped sub-division within the genre of Romani poetry is the poetry for children. Examples of such works are the poetry collections by Sejdo Jašarov (1996), Karlis Rudjevic and Ata Becheva (2004).

The existing of a considerable quantity of poetry production stimulated publication of anthologies of Roma poetry, usually in several languages (Romani, language of the country of publication and/or English). One kind of collections are these uniting poets within borders of nation-state or former federation: such were published in Hungary (Rostas-Farkas 1993), Italy (Spinelli 1993), Bulgaria (Parushev





2002). In Serbia were published several collections/anthologies presenting Roma from former Yugoslav lands (Krasnići/Saćip 1999; Šainović/Balić 2001), the Museum of Roma culture in Brno published collection of Slovak and Czech Roma (Kramářová/Sadílkova 2007).





Other Romani poetry collections were designed to present the cultural unity of all Roma by publishing anthologies of Roma in Europe. Such anthologies were published in Hungary (*Rom Som. Romane Poetongi Antologia/Anthology of Gypsy poets/* *Ciganyok Költök Versei*. 1995) and Italy (Spinelli 1994-1997), or across the globe as the volume *The Roads of the Roma: A PEN anthology of Gypsy Writers*, published in English and edited by Rajko Djurić, Ian Hancock and Siobhan Down (1998).





(Auto) biographies

Many publications by Roma belong to the genre of autobiographies, biographies and memoirs devoted to life-path narration on the background of historical events. As it has been pointed out earlier, in the German speaking countries a common topic is the Romani Holocaust, which should be viewed in the historical context of immergence of the political, scientific and public discourse on the Roma Holocaust after 1970s, including its importance in the international Romani movement.

The Austrian Lovara family of Stojka's, survivors of the Holocaust and the internment at Auschwitz and Bergen-Belsen, is the most productive and well known. Ceija Stojka published her first autobiographic book in 1988, *We Live in Seclusion* as memories of a Romni concerning the Nazi persecution of the Austrian Romani people, later continued in 1992, with Travellers on This World (Stojka 1992). Her brothers also published their autobiographies - Karl Stojka published At home all over the World (1994) and Mongo Stojka Paper Kid (2000). Stojka's narrations are valuable examples of Romani literature, not only as content, but also concerning their style with detailed descriptions reminding the oral tradition of the Lovara, as well as by their important contribution to the general public's knowledge of the Roma's and Sinti's culture and history. Also in Austria, the Burgenland Roma Stephan Horvath published his memoirs and narratives in three books I was not in Auschwitz (Ich war nicht in Auschwitz, 2003), Cat litter (Katzenstreu, 2007) and Atsinganos (2013). In his first two books Stephan narrated about his own experience and mental breakdown and sleep disorders since the violent death of his son after



the Roma settlement Oberwart was attacked with explosive materials and slogans "Roma get back to India!". Horvath writes:

"I am an eternal Gypsy, born and brought up in the Roma settlement – condemned like the rest to endure the silence of decades. I have seen the shredded remains of the four victims. I was there to witness the atrocity. I looked into the broken eyes of my dead son and since then have heard *the voices of my ancestors from the beyond.*"

Horvath's third book, *Atsinganos. The Oberwarter Roma and their settlements* came out in 2013. It is dedicated to the Oberwart Roma and their settlements in historical perspective, Horvath's own roots and fate. In 2013 the Austrian PEN Roma Literature Prize was awarded for the first time and the recipient was Stefan Horvath.



Several autobiography books were published as a result of creative cooperation between Roma and a researcher, who encouraged the authors and helped them master their works. Along with the already mentioned *Katizi*, that was written by Katarina Taikon in collaboration with Gunilla Lundgren, Lundgren also encouraged other Swedish Roma to write their life stories. An interesting instance in this respect is the story of Alyosha Taykon From Coppersmith to *Nurse: Alyosha the son of a Gypsy chief* published initially in Swedish (1999) and translated into Romani (2002) and English (2003) in the common Interface collection of Centre de Recherches Tsiganes/University of Hertfordshire Press.

The story reveals how Alyosha was rejected by the family when he became a male nurse, because of the concept for purity. Another story narrated by



the Taikons and edited by Lundgren is published in a commix for both children and adults by Sofi Taikon, a Romani girl surviving the Holocaust. The book that is among the few examples of commix in Romani is published in Kaldarash Romani and Swedish (Lundgren/Taikon 2005). In Sweden were also published biography books for both adults (Caldaras 2002) and children as the recently printed excellent Swedish/Romani story photo book accompanied by a CD with recordings of the narrative, *Marie-Claude – One Romani Girl* (Taikon Melker/Erikkson 2010).

Biography/memoir books that were narrated by Gypsy and edited by a non-Roma researcher/activist were also published in Italy in recent years. In 1999 was published the book in a form of diary of the Bosnian born David Halilovich's *Tema sulla mia vita* (*An account of my life*, Toninato 2013: 110). The story of another Rom with Yugoslav origin, Radko Dragutinović, was published in *The Kanjarija: History of the Rom Dasikhane in Italy* (Toninato 2013: 89) under the editing of Massimo Converso, national secretary of Opera Nomadi, the Italian organization that is engaged in human rights activism and taking care of the Gypsies that the Italian state accommodates in *campi nomadi*.

Sinti authors in Italy have also been producing autobiography stories as a result of their collaboration with editors, among them Annibale Niemen's The House on Wheels (Niemen 1995), Gnugo De Bar's Road, the home of Sinti. One hundred years of history in the story of a mountebank sinto (De Bar 1998), and Gualberto Niemen's Autobiography of a puppeteer (Nieman 2000) (Trevisan 2008: 45-70). Biographies of Gypsy Travellers were published in the UK among which as The Horsieman: Memories of a Traveller, 1928-1958 by Duncan Williamson (1994), Gypsy from the Forest by David Lazell (1997.), and Biography of Bramwell "Romany"



Evens by Guy Loveridge (1995) (Kenrick 1998: ???). In Australia is published the autobiography of the Roma activists Yvonne Slee *Torn Away Forever* (2005).

Probably the most famous so far autobiography book in Eastern Europe is the Ilona Lacková's *I was* born under a Lucky Star: my life as a Gypsy Woman in Slovakia originally published in Slovakian as a result of the author's collaboration with Milena Hübshmannova. The book has editions in many languages, including English in which the original title (Narodila jsem se pod šťastnou





hvězdou, e.g. I was born under a Lucky Star in English, Lacková 1997) is wrongly and even contrary translated as *A False Down*, which is not a simple error of the individual translator, but an indication about the commonly accepted discourse in Europe after 1989 to portray the former communist regimes as extremely repressive towards Gypsies.

In Romania has also been published such a book narrating about the life of Ilonka Neni, written after the story of the Roma woman from Transylvania (Konczei/Lakatus 2004).

In Eastern Europe Bulgarian Roma hold a leading place in regard to biographies and memoirs published in the recent years. Lilyana Kovatcheva, Romani women activist and Romani children education expert, is author of two biography books. Her first book *Rom Knows the Way* was published in three different language editions

(Bulgarian, Romani and English) and is an account of the life of 12 Roma individuals from all over Europe with significant contribution to the development of the Romani culture (Kovatcheva 2000; 2001). The second bilingual (Romani/Bulgarian) book is a biographical narrative with archive materials about the life of Shakir Pashov, a famous Roma leader and MP in the Bulgarian Parliament in 1940s (Kavatcheva 2008). Two memoir books by Gospodin Kolev, a Bulgarian Rom, who held a position in the Central Committee of the Bulgarian Communist Party, were also published insider's providing an valuable narratives about the work that was related to the Gypsy population and the context and (non)implementation of the Party's decisions in regard to the Gypsies - A Gypsy in the Central Committee of the Bulgarian Communist Party (Kolev 2003) and



K OVACHEVA 1898 1981

The Bulgarian Communist Party and the Gypsies in the period 1944-1989 (Kolev 2010).

The Romani linguist and pedagogic expert Hristo Kyuchukov published his early childhood biography in the picture book *My Name was Hussein* (Kyuchukov 2004).

Whereas (auto) biographies and memoir books are comprehensively developed in terms of production and topics, the novels are still the barest genre and authors continue to publish in the majority languages of the countries where they live. The few examples to which we can refer are the already mentioned Veijo Baltzar from Finland, whose last novel In Love and War (2008) treats the already quite popular topic of the Romani Holocaust as a background of the love story between two young Roma. Ľudovít Didi, called by the Slovakia critic's the first Romani novelist. wrote so far three books of novels and short stories - Stories lighted by the wind (Didi 2004), The Gypsy woman's forecast (Didi 2008) and Black Roma and White love (Didi 2011). The Bulgarian poet and journalist Georgy Parushiev has published the novel Carriers of Illusions (Parushev 2006) about the destiny of a young Roma during the WII.



Among the women authors we can mention the names of Esmeralda Romanez, Romani activist writing poetry and prose in French, author of the novel *Rainbow Paths* (Romanez 1998) and Louise Doughty, who published *Fires in the Dark* (2003) about the destiny of a Roma boy who escapes from a concentration camp and hides his identity.

Translations in Romani

The corpus of literature in Romani is also enlarged by various **translations**. Among them are children's classics translations as *Snowwhite and the Seven Dwarfs*, *Emil and the Bad Tooth*, and even translation of the Disney production *Shrek*, published in the Bulgarian periodical *Andral*.













The translations for elders are varying from translations of worlds classics, as for example Lorka's translations (Lorca 1996), translations of national poets (a collection of poems by the Bulgarian national hero and



revolutionary poet Hristo Botev was translated into Drundari Romani dialect), or translations of the epic corpus *Ramayana* (translated by Leksa Manush).

107 -

Federico García Lorca



Romane romancura Romancero gitano Cigány románcok

There are also examples of a translation of scientific (and popular) book is Berša Bibahtale (literary Unhappy years), Romani version of the The Destiny of Europe's Gypsies by Gratton Puxton and Donald Kenrick translated by D. Kenrick himself, D. Kenrick's Romengiro Drom. Indijatyr ke Maškiratuno Derjav, translation into Baltic Romani of Road of the Roma. From India to the Mediterranean done by Valdemar Kalinin (Kenrick 2001), We are the Romany People: Ame Sam e Rromane Džene by Ian Hancock (2002) and I Romani Kultura by Elena Marushiakova and Vesselin Popov (Marushiakova/Popov 2012).

Translations in various Romani dialects have been done of religious text-the Bible for example have various translations, primarily done by Roma activists, published in different countries as for example Serbia, Bulgaria, and Baltic states². Bible adaptation for children was firstly published un Spain in 1982, while some Romani translation appeared in Eastern Europe after 1990 as for example those done by József Choli Daróczi in Hungary and Zlatomir Jovanović³ in Serbia. Kuran was translated by Muharem Serbezovksi (Kur'ani 2005) and other Islamic religious guiding books have been also translated (Serbez 2002; So si o Islamo 2004).

² Sumnalo Evandjelje Isusko Hristosko e Jovanostar translated by Trifun Dimić. Belgrade: Biblijsko Društvo, 1989; O Neevo Zaveti Amare Devlesko Isus Hristos translated by Sulyo Metkov. Sofia: Union of the Church of the Seventh Day adventists, 1995; Ianostyr Svento Mištophenyben translated by Valdemar Kalinin. Dillenburg: Gute Botschaft Verlag, 1999.

² Chavrrikano Evangelio translated by Zlatomir Jovanović, Obrenovac, 2012; Muri Anglunyi Bibla Kiponca translated by József Choli Daróczi. 2010.


The New Testament was also translated by various evangelical missions that also published periodicals and other texts in translation to reach their Romani believers.

It is noteworthy that when we speak about Romani publications in Eastern Europe, the majority of the titles have been published by nongovernmental cultural/educational/ human rights organizations or the authors themselves with the help of grants from donors supporting the development of the Romani culture and literature. In Western Europe, the publishing is done primarily by professional publishers, in most cases specialized in minority literature noncommercial publishing houses.



Conclusion

We could claim that with the of the quantity increasing in production of Romani literature and its development in the context of the development of the Romani discourse in Europe, the Romani literature could be already interpreted as a cohesive, though multi-faced, phenomenon. Romani literature titles, regardless of their national context which should not be underestimated, do have similarities that are not national and this is seen in the commonality of their topics. Some of the most important and repetitive motives and themes that are common for the Romani literature production are: 1) Identity revealing and self-referentiality in regards to the being a Roma/Gypsy (almost all

Roma poets have a poem called I'm a Gypsy/Me sem Rom) or belonging to a Gypsy group (the prose authors refer to the rules of their own group; 2) The idea of lack of place and belonging that is most explicitly stated in the poem of Rajko Djurić Without a Home, Without a Grave; 3) Reproducing the (Auto-)stereotypes that Roma are free nomads and travelers, as stated a poem by Charlie Smith - "Real Gypsies live in tents and waggons like in the story books"; 4) Relations Rom-Gadžhe; 5) Nature, relation and harmony between Gypsies and nature; 6) Mirror of customs and influence of folklore; 7) Historical narratives - in both poetry and other works appear narratives about the origin of Roma from India



and their trip to Europe, as well as the stories of Roma suffering in Auschwitz or Jasenovac. These typology of themes is not exhaustive, but generally draws the most common and repeated ones. As we may see the Roma authors are typically writing about the destiny of a Roma characters and are in this sense self-referential. The Romani literature works have various functions – they are historical testimonies, educational materials, provide description of folklore motives, etc. As any literature, Romani Aauthors works are not just 'pure' literature – they should be interpreted in regards to the politics of identity characteristic for the context in which the individual authors have publisher. Thus, we could agree with the statement that Romani literature is minority literature in the sense used by Gilles Deleuze and Félix Guattari, e.g. not the one produced in minority language (although this is sometimes the case), but the literature which is highly political and in which representations have a generalizing collective value(s) (Deleuze/Guattari 1986).

Bibliography

- Abdula, Gjunler. 1995. Bizoagor / Eindeloos. Oss.
- Achim, Viorel. 2004. *The Roma in Romanian History*. Budapest: Central European University Press.
- Acković, Dragoljub. 1995. "Le journal Romano Lil." Études Tsiganes 7: 123-32.
- Acković, Dragoljub. 2001. Nacija smo, a ne Cigani. Pregled aktivnosti romskih i neromskih društvenih i političkih organizacija i pojedinaca o romskoj problematici u nekadašnjoj Jugoslaviji. Beograd: Rrominterpress.
- Advić, Šemso. 1975. Poesie. Cuneo: Edizioni Primalpe.
- Advić, Šemso. 1985. Poesie. edited and translated by Sergio Francese. Cuneo: Primalpe.
- Advić, Šemso. 1993. Sanguina il cuore dei Rom (Ratvarol ilo romano). Forlì: Edizioni Forum.
- Advić, Šemso. 1998. Romi od Rodjenja do smrti. Banja Luka: B.Z.K. Preporod.
- Ambrosch, Gerd at al. 2000. *Kaj pe sina, kaj pe nana. Amare Pamaristscha*. Graz: Romani-Projekt. Oberwart: Verein Roma.
- Awosusi, Anita, Hg. 2000. Zigeunerbilder in der Kinder- und Jugendliteratur. Heidelberg: Wunderhorn-Verlag.
- Bakker, Peter, and Hristo Kyuchukov. 2003. Publications in Romani, useful for Romani
- *language education*. Preliminary and Experimental Edition. October 2003. http://fc.hum. au.dk/~peter_bakker/00d44ee2-0075824e.-1/romedu-

Balázs, János. 1973. Füstölgések. Salgótarján.



- Balić, Sait et al. 1984. *Jaga. Vatre.* Leskovc/Bujanovac: XI smotra kulturnih dostignia Roma SR Srbije.
- Balić, Sait. ed. 1980. Po Tito. Yugoslavia: Prosveta.
- Balogh, Attila. 1980. Lendítem lábamat. Budapest: Szépirodalmi Könyvkiadó.
- Baltzar, Veijo. 1968. Polttava tie. Helsinki: Tammi.
- Baltzar, Veijo. 1969. Verikihlat. Helsinki: Tammi.
- Baltzar, Veijo. 1970. Mari, Helsinki: Tammi.
- Baltzar, Veijo. 2000. Phuro. Helsinki: Tammi.
- Baltzar, Veijo. 2008. Sodassa ja rakkaudessa. Helsinki: Tammi.
- Banga, Dezider. 1964. Pieseň nad vetrom. Bratislava:
- Bari, Karoly, ed. 1990. Le vešeski dej. Budapest: Orszagos Kozmovelodesi Kozpont.
- Bari, Károly. 1970. Holtak arca fölé. Budapest: Szépirodalmi Könyvkiadó.
- Bari, Károly. 1985. A varázsló sétálni indul. Budapest: Szépirodalmi Könyvkiadó.
- Bari Károly, ed. 1996. Anthology of Gypsy Folk Songs I-IV. Budapest: EMI-Quint.
- Bari, Károly, ed. 1999. Gypsy Folklore. Hungary. Romania. I-X.
- Becheva, Ata. 2004. Da bâdem umnichki / Te ovas gozaver. Sofia: Iktus.
- Bello, Silvio, and Fadil Cizmic, eds. 1992. *Romane krle: voci zingare*. Roma: Sensibili alle foglie.
- Bengsch, Bertolt A. 2000. "Die Literatur der Roma. Ein Überblick," In: *Music, Language and Literature of the Roma and Sinti* edited by Max Peter, 35-51. Berlin: VWB.
- Berberski, Slobodan. 1950. Za kišom biće duga. Zagreb: Mlado Pokolenje.
- Berberski, Slobodan. 1950. *Proleće i oči* [Spring in the eyes, poetry, Serbo-Croatian]. Matica Srpska.

- Berki, Janos. 1985. *Tales of János Berki Told in Gypsy and Hungarian*, edited by Veronika Gorog-Karady. Budapest: MTA Neprajzi Kutato Csoport.
- Bezlyudsko, Mihailo. 1933a. Nevo dzhiiben. Gilja. Moskva: Terny gvardija.

____ 1933b. *Graj*. Moskva: Terny gvardija.

- Bible. Luke. 1912. *E Devléskoro sfjato lil e Ísus-Xristóskoro džiipé thai meribé e sfjatoné Lukéstar* translated into Romani Erli by B. Gilliat-Smith. London: British and Foreign Bible Society.
- Bible. Luke. 1872. *Criscoté e majaró Lucas (Evangelium Lucae al romani) o dialecto de los Gitanos de España* translated by George Borrow. London: British and Foreign Bible Society.
- Binns, Dennis, ed. 1987. *Gavvered All Around*. Manchester: Manchester Travellers' Education Service,
- Boswell, Silvester Gordon. 1970. *The Book of Boswell: Autobiography of a Gypsy* edited by John Seymour. London: Gollancz.
- Caldaras, Hans. 2002. I betraktarens õgon. Stockholm: Prisma.
- Cech, Petra at al. 2001. Fern von uns im Traum ... Te na dikhas sunende ... Märchen, Erzählungen und Lieder der Lovara – Lovarenge paramiči, tertenetura taj gjila. Klagenfurt: Drava Verlag.
- Choli Daróczi, József, ed. 1981. *Fekete Korall (Cigány költők antológiája)*. Budapest: Táncsics Könykiadó.
- Choli Daróczi, József, ed. 1990. Isten homorú arcán. Pel devlesko bango muj. Budapest: Orpheusz.
- Cherenkov, Lev. N. 1975. "Cyganskaja literatura." V: *Literaturnaja enciklopedija*, t. 8, 408-410. Moskva: Sovetskaja enciklopedija.
- Cioabă, Luminița Mihai. 1994. O Angluno la Phuveako. Sibiu: Editura Neo Drom.



- ____1997. Negustorul de Ploaie / O Manuši kai Bitinel Brîšind. Sibiu: Editura Neo Drom.
- Cioabă, Luminița Mihai. 2002. O Čem o Hasardo/ Țara perduta/ The Lost Country / Das Verlorene Land. Sibiu: Editura Etape.
- Cirelli, Luigi. 1994. Senza meta. Milan: Opera Nomadi.
- Constantinescu, Barbu. 2005. Probe de limba și literature țiganilor din Romănia. Romane
- Gilea. Paramíce Romané. / Specimens from the Language and the Literature of the
- Gypsies in Romania. Romane Gilea. Paramíce Romané. Cluj-Napoca: Editura Limes
- Copoiu, Petre. 1996. *Povesti Tiganesti / Rromane Paramica* edited by Gheorghe Sarau. Bucharest: Kriterion.
- Courthiade, Marcel. 1985. "Between Oral and Written Textuality: the Lila of the Young Romani Poets in Kosovia." *Lacio Drom* 6: 2-20.
- Courthiade, Marcel. 1997. "Papuśa" des mots, un destin." Études Tsiganes 9: 35-52.
- Crowe, David. 1991. "The Roma (Gypsies) in Hungary through the Kadar Era." *Nationalities Papers* 19: 297-311.
- Crowe, David. 1995. A History of the Gypsies of Eastern Europe and Russia. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Cybulski, Mariusz. 1985. "Papusza and her poems." Lacio Drom 6: 21-31.
- De Bar, Gnugo. 1998. *Strada, patria sinta. Cento anni di storia nel racconto di un saltimbanco sinto.* Firenze: Fatatrac.
- Deleuze, Gilles, and Félix Guattari. 1986. *Kafka: Towards a Minority Literature*. Minneapolis & London: University of Minnesota Press.
- Demeter, Gejza. 1992. O mule maškar amende. Praha: Romani čhib.
- Demir, Ljatif. 1996. Chavengere Paramisjora. Skopje: NIP Studentski zbor.
- Demir, Ljatif Mefaileskoro. 1996. Mahaatma. Skopje: NIP Studentski zbor.



- Demir, Ljatif. 2009. I Legenda Gan thaj Ćen/ Легендата за Ган и Чен, in: Едиција: двојазични училишни материјали од програмата ПОР/ Edicia duj čhiběngere materialoja tari programa POR. Skopje: Darhija.
- Dick-Zatta, Jane. 1985. "The Metonymic Pole of Language and the Referential Function in Rom Sloveni Narration." *Lacio Drom* 3-4: 32-41.
- Didi, Ľudovít. 2004. Príbehy svätené vetrom. Bratislava: Slovart.

Didi, Ľudovít. 2008. Cigánkina veštba. Bratislava: Slovart.

Didi, Ľudovít. 2011. Čierny Róm a biela láska. Bratislava: Slovart.

- Dimić, Trifun. 1979. Kana vavas ando foro Dolazeći sa vašara. Novi Sad: Irig.
- Dimić, Trifun. 1985. Romane Romaja, Sovlimate thaj Bahtarimate. Narodne Romske Ketveve, Zakletve i Blagloslovi. Novi Sad: Edition Strazilovo/ Sprska Citaonica i Knjiznica Irig.
- Dimić, Trifun. 1986. Ć*idimata e Rromane Điljendar Romska narodna poezija*. Novi Sad: Matica Srpska.
- Djurić, Gordana. 1989. *Dukhaldo ilo. Ranjeno Srce*. Novi Sad: Društvo Vojvodina za Jezik i Književnost Roma.
- Djurić, Rajko. 1969. Rom rodel than talav kham. Beograd.
- ____ 1979. Bi kheresko bi limoresko Bez Doma bez Groba. Beograd: Nolit.
- ____ 1980. Purano svato o dur them/ Prastara reč Daleki Svet. Beograd.
- ____ 1980. *Romane Garadine Alava. Romske Zagonetke. Littérature Orale des Balkans.* Beograd: Académie Serbe des Sciences et des Arts.
- ____ 1982. A thaj U/A I U. Beograd: Narodna Knjiga.
- ____1989. Zigeunerische Elegien. Berlin: Helmut Buske Verlag.
- ____1990. Sans tombe sans maison. Paris: L'Harmattan.
- ____ 1994. *Les disciples d'Héphaistos*. Troyes: Librairie Bleue.

____ 2002. *Die Literatur der Roma und Sinti*. Berlin: Edition Parabolis.

Doughty, Louise. 2003. Fires in the Dark. London: Simon & Schuster.

- Dragutinovic, Ratko. 2000. I kañjarija. Storia vissuta dei rom dasikhanè in Italia. di The Kanjarija: History of the Rom Dasikhane in Italy. Ass. Multimage.
- Eder-Jordan, Beate. 1993. *Geboren bin ich vor Jahrtausenden… Bilderwelten in der Literatur der Roma und Sinti*. Klagenfurt: Drava.
- Eder-Jordan, Beate. 2000. "Camelamos naquerar: Wir wollen sprechen. Eine Konstante in der Theaterarbeit und im literarischen Schaffen von Roma und Sinti." In: *Music, Language and Literature of the Roma and Sinti* edited by Max Peter Baumann, 53-65. Berlin: VWB.
- Fabianová, Tera. 1992. Sar me phiravas ande škola /Jak jsem chodila do školy. České Budějovice: Nakladatelství a vydavatelství UDO.
- Farkas, Oszkár. 1975. Királyvíz. Nyíregyháza: Heti Szó Pluszsajtóügynökség.
- Fennesz-Juhasz, Christiane at al. 2003. *Die schlaue Romni E bengali Romni. Märchen und Lieder der Roma So Roma phenen taj gilaben.* Klagenfurt: Drava Verlag.
- Ferková, Ilona. Čorde čhave. Ukradené děti. Společenství Romů na Moravě.
- Ficowski, Jerzy. 1989. *The Gypsies in Poland. History and Customs*. Warsaw: Interpress Publishers.
- Finnan, Carmel. 2000. "From Survival to Subversion: Strategies of Self-Representation in Selected Works by Mariella Mehr." In: The Role of the Romanies: Images and 'Counter-Images' of Gypsies edited by Nicholas Saul and Susan Tebbutt, 131-145. Liverpool: Liverpool University Press.
- Franz, Philomena. 1985. Zwischen Liebe und Hass: Ein Zigeunerleben. Freiburg: Herder.
- Friedman, Victor A. 1999. The Romani language in the Republic of Macedonia: status, usage, and sociolinguistic perspectives. *Acta Linguistica Hungarica* 46: 317–39.



Fuhler, Lee. 1996/1997. The Romani Poems. Eaglesmont Press.

Georgiev, Mihail. 2009. Mo vogi / Dushata mi. Sofia.

Germano, Aleksandr. 1933a. *Les kharde ruvesa i vavre rosphenybena*. Moskva: Hudozhestvennaja literatura.

Germano, Aleksandr. 1933b. Dzhjana neve roma. Moskva.

- Germano, Aleksandr. 1934. Lole jaga. Gilja. Moskva: Hudozhestvennaja literatura.
- Germano, Aleksandr. 1935. *Ganka Chjamba i vavre rasphenybena*. Moskva: Hudozhestvennaja literatura.
- Germano, Aleksandr, i Olga Pankova 1933. Seryoga Laguno. Moskva: Terny gvardija.
- Gheorghe, Nicolae, and Thomas Acton, 2001. "Citizens of the World and Nowhere." In: *Between Past and Future: The Roma of Central and Eastern Europe* edited by Will Guy, 54-70. Hatfield: University of Hertfordshire Press.
- Gila, Vania de. 1996. *Le Roi des Serpents et Autres Contes Tsiganes Balto-slaves*. Châteauneufles-Martigues: Wallâda.
- Gina, Andrej. 1991. Bijav/ Svatba. Prague: Apeiron.
- Gjerde, Lars, and Knut Kristiansen. 1994. *The Orange of Love, and Other Stories: The Rom-Gypsy Language in Norway*. Oslo: Scandinavian University Press.
- Glaeser, Ursula et al. 1998. Amen Roman Siklojas. Oberwart: Ferajn Roma.
- Grabocz, Gabor, and Katalin Kovalcsik. 1988. *A Mesemondo Rostás Mihály/Mihály Rostás: A Gypsy Story Teller*. Budapest: MTA Neprajzi Kutato Csoport.
- Grimm, Wilhelm. 2000. *I Snežana thaj o efta patuljakia* translated by Trajko Petrovski. Skopje: Romano Ilo.
- Grondahl, Satu. 2005. "Stay Silent No Longer: Romanies, Travellers and Literature." In: *Nordic Voices* edited by Jenny Fossum Gron, 98-110. Oslo: ABM-Utvikling.



- Gjerde, Lars, and Knut Kristiansen. 1994. *The Orange of Love, and Other Stories: The Rom-Gypsy Language in Norway*. Oslo: Scandinavian University Press.
- Gjünler, Abdulah. 1995. Bizoagor/ Eindeloos. Abdulah Gjünler.
- Haliti, Bajram. 2000. Badalesi Angrustin/ Nebeski Pristen. Beograd: Strutsna Kniga.
- Halwachs, Dieter W. et al. 1996. *Amen Roman Pisinas. Wir schreiben Roman*. Oberwart: Verein Roma/ Klagenfurt: Verlag Hermagoras.
- Halwachs, Dieter W. at al. 2000. Der Rom und der Teufel O rom taj o beng. Märchen, Erzählungen und Lieder der Roma aus dem Burgenland – Romane pamaristscha, phukajiptscha taj gila andar o Burgenland. Klagenfurt: Drava Verlag.
- Holdosi, József. 1978. Kányák. Budapest: Szépirodalmi Könyvkiadó.
- Hancock, Ian. 2002. *We are the Romany People: Ame Sam e Rromane Dzene*. Hatfield: University of Hertfordshire Press.
- Hancock, Ian, Siobhan Dowd and Rajko Djurić, eds. 1998. *The Roads of the Roma: A PEN Anthology of Gypsy Writers (Pen American Center's Threatened Literature Series)*, Hatfield: University of Hertfordshire Press.
- Hancock, Ian. 1998. "Introduction." The Roads of the Roma, 9-21.
- Heinschink, Mozes F. at al. 2006. Von den Hexen E Čoxanend'i. Märchen der Gurbet-Roma – Gurbetond'e paramiča. Klagenfurt: Drava Verlag.
- Horvath, Stephan. 2003. Ich war nicht in Auschwitz. Erzählungen. Oberwart: edition lex liszt 12.
- Horvath, Stephan. 2007. Katzenstreu. Erzählung. Oberwart: edition lex liszt 12.
- Horvath, Stephan. 2013. *Atsinganos. Die Oberwarter Roma und ihre Siedlungen*. Oberwart: edition lex liszt 12.
- Hrustalyo, Vano. 1936. Gilja. Moskva: Hudizhestvennaja literatura.



- Hübschmannová, Milena, 1991. "Birth of Romany Literature in Czechoslovakia" *Cahiers de litterature orale* 30: 91-97.
- Hübschmannová, Milena. 2002. Alexander Vyacheslavovich Germano. http://romani.unigraz.at/rombase/cd/data/pers/data/germano.en.pdf
- Iljaz, Shaban. 1985. Korenjata na mojot pradedo. Skoplje: NIO "Studentski sbor"
- Jašari, Hilimi.1985. Ano drom (Drama). Priština: Upri Drama ano Droma.
- Jašarov, Sejdo. 1996. Mirikle. Skopje: Shkupi.
- Jašarov, Sejdo. 2001. *Dvanaest priča za djecu. Dešuduj paramiča e čavorenge*. Zagreb: Ministartvo prosvjete i športa.
- Jovanović, Ilija. 2000. Bündel/ Budžo. Gedichte/ Đila. Landeck: Eye.
- Joyce, Nan. 1985. *Traveller: An Autobiography* edited by Anna Farmar. Dublin: Gill Macmillan.
- Jusuf, Šaib. 1996. Sikljova Romani čhib. Skopje: Prosvetno Delo.
- Kalinin, Valdemar and Aleksandr Rusakov. "Obzor cyganskoj litertury byvshego Sovetskogo Soyuza, stran SNG i Baltii". http://gypsy-life.net/literatura13.htm.
- Kalinino, Valdemaro. 2005. *Romane Sune / Romani Dreams*. Vitebsk, Belarus: Ablasnaya Drukarna.
- Kantja, Grigorii. 1970. Folkloros Romano, Stihi i pesni. Chisinau: Cartea Moldoveneasca.
- Karpati, Mirella. 1989. "La tradizione romani fra oralità e scrittura." Lacio Drom 1: 30-34.
- Kenrick, Donald. 1998. Historical Dictionary of the Gypsies. London: The Scarecrow Press.
- Kenrick, Donald. 2001. *Romengiro Drom. Indijatyr ke Maškiratuno Derjav*. Berlin: Parabolis.
- Kerim, Usin. 1977. Pesni ot katuna. Sofia: Bâlgarski pisatel.
- Kramářová, Jana and Helena Sadílková, eds. 2007. Čalo voď i antologie prozaických textů romských spisovatelů z ČR. Brno: Brno: Muzeum romské kultury.



Krasnići, Alija. 1981. Čergarendje Jaga - Čergarske Vatre. Priština: Jedinstvo.

Krasnići, Alija. 1986. Iripe ano Đuvdipe. Povratak i Zhivot. Priština: Jedinstvo.

Krasnići, Alija. 1988. Netet e lodhura. Priština: Rilinda.

Krasnići, Alija. 1995. Rromane Kanrralje Droma. Priština: Pergament.

Krasnići, Alija. 2000a. Rromani Mahlava. Kragujevac.

Krasnići, Alija. 2000b. Antologija e Điljenđi katar o Jasenovac. Kragujevac.

Krasnići, Alija. 2001. *Lord, turn me into an ant! Gypsy fairy tales from Kosovo and Metohia.* Beograd.

Krasnići, Alija, and Mehmed Saćip. 1999. Antologija romske poezije u Jugoslaviji. Niš.

- Kjučukov, Xristo. 1997. *Amari Romani Lumja. 1 kotor. Romane poeme e tikne čavorenge.* Sofia: Izdatelstvo "Biznes Bridž".
- Kolev, Gospodin. 2003. Edin ciganin v CK na BKP. Sofia: "Vini-1873".

Kolev, Gospodin. 2010. *Bâlgarskata Komunisticheska Partija i cignaite prez perioda 1944- 1989*. Sofia: Centâr za publichni politiki.

Konczei, Csilla, and Ileana Lakatus. 2004. *Ilonka Neni*. Sibiu: Editura Fundatiei Petru Studii Europene.

Kovatcheva, Lilyana. 2000. Rom knows the way. New Delhi.

Kovatcheva, Lilyana. 2001. O Rom dzhanel o drom. New Delhi.

Kovatcheva, Lili. 2008. Shakir Pashov. O apostolo e romengoro 1898-1981/ Shakip Pashov. Apostolât na romite v Bâlgarija 1898-1981. Sofia: Kham.

Kur'ani. 2005. Irame ki Romani čhib Muharem Serbezovski. Sarajevo: Romano lil.

Kyuchukov, Hristo, and Miroslav Yanakiev. 1996. Romskiat Pât. O Romano Drom. Xristomatia no romski ezik za IV-VIII klas. Sofia: Tilia.

Kyuchukov, Hristo. 2004. My name was Hussein. Poyd Mills Press.



- Lacková, Ilona. 1997. Narodila *jsem se pod šťastnou hvězdou* edited by Milena Hübschmannová. Praha: Triáda.
- Lacková, Ilona. 2000. *A False Dawn: My Life as a Gypsy Woman in Slovakia* edited by Milena Hübschmannová. Hatfield: Centre de Recherces Tsiganes and University of Herfordshire Press.
- Lakatos, Menyhért. 1979. Füstös képek. Budapest: Magvető.

Lakatos, Menyhért. 1982. Akik élni akartak. Budapest: Magvető.

Lazell, David. 1997. *Gypsy from the Forest*. Pen y Bont, Wales: Bryn Tyrion.

- Levakovich, Giuseppe, and G. Ausenda. 1975. Tzigari: Vita di un nomade. Milan:Bompiatu.
- Levacovich, Mansueto. 1991. Popolo mio dei Rom edited by P. Zatta. Abano Termp: Franciscl.
- Liégeois, Jean-Pierre. 1987. *Gypsies and Travellers: Dossier for the Intercultural Training of Teachers*, Strasbourg: Council of Europe.
- ____1994. *Roma, Gypsies, Travellers*, Strasbourg: Council of Europe.
- Lorka, Federiko Garsija. 1996. Alusarde Gilja. Izbrani Pesni. Nakhavibe ki Romani čhib. Ljatif Mefaileskororo Demir. Skopje: NIP "Studentski zbor".
- Loveridge, Guy. 1995. Biography of Bramwell "Romany" Evens. Huddersfield: Loveridge.
- Lundgren, Gunilla. 2002. *Bi Kheresko bi Limoresko. Utan Hus utan grav. Romska Sånger och dikter*. Stockholm: Wahlstrom & Widstrand.
- Lundgren, Gunilla, and Sofia Taikon. 2005. Sofia Z-4515. Stockholm: Tranan/Podium.
- Magnaru, Franca. 1988. La Zingaresca. Parma: Zara.
- Manush, Leksa. 1973. Hochu loshadku. Stihi. Moskva: Detskaja literatura.
- Marushiakova, Elena, and Vesselin Popov. 1994-1997. *Studii Romani*, Vol I-IV. Sofia: Druzhestvo za izsledvane na malcinstvata "Studii Romani".



- Marushiakova, Elena, and Vesselin Popov. 1997. *The Gypsies (Roma) in Bulgaria*. Frankfurt am Main: Peter Lang.
- Marushiakova, Elena, and Vesselin Popov. 2005. "The Roma a Nation without a State? Historical Background and Contemporary Tendencies." In: *Nationalismus Across the Globe: An overview of the nationalism of state-endowed and stateless nations* edited by Wojciech Burszta, Tomasz Kamusella and Sebastian Wojciechowski, 433-455. Poznan: School of Humanities and Journalism.
- Marushiakova, Elena, and Vesselin Popov. 2008a. "State Policies under Communism", *Factsheets on Roma History*. Strassborgh: Council of Europe. http://romafacts.unigraz.at/index.php/history/prolonged-discrimination-struggle-for-human-rights/ state-policies-under-communism.
- Marushiakova, Elena, and Vesselin Popov. 2008b. "Soviet Union Before WWII" *Factsheets on Roma History*. Strassborgh: Council of Europe. http://romafacts.uni-graz.at/index. php/history/second-migration-intensified-discrimination/soviet-union-beforeworld-war-ii.
- Marushiakova, Elena, and Vesselin Popov. 2012. I Romani etnokultura: Palunipe thaj akana. Katalogo. Sofia: Paradigm.
- Marushiakova, Elena, Vesselin Popov, and Birgit Igla. 1998. *Studii Romani, Vol. V-VI. The Snake's Ring. The Language. and Folklore of Erli from Sofia.* Sofia: Litavra.
- Matras, Yaron. 2002. Romani: A Linguistic Introduction. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Matras, Yaron. 2005. The Status of Romani in Europe. Report Submitted to the Council of Europe's Languages Policy Division, October 2005. http://romani.humanities. manchester.ac.uk/downloads/1/statusofromani.pdf
- Maximoff, Matéo. 1946. Les Ursitory. Paris: Flammarion.
- ____ 1955. *Le Prix de la liberté*. Paris: Flammarion.



- ____ 1969. La septième fille. Paris: Concordia.
- ____ 1984. Condamné à survivre. Paris: Concordia.
- Mehr, Mariella. 1981. Steinzeit. Gümligen: Zytglogge.
- ____ 1998. *Nachrichten aus dem Exil. Nevipe andar o exilo. Gedichte. Gila* translated from German into Romani by Rajko Djurić. Klagenfurt: Drava.
- Nagy, Olga. 1988. *A havasi sátaro: David Gyula mesel*. Budapest: MTA Neprajzi Kutato Csoport.
- Niemen, Annibale. 1995. La casa con le ruote. O ker kun le penija. Roma: Sinnos Editore.
- Niemen, Gualberto. 2000. *Autobiografia di un burattinaio*. Tortona: Quaderni dell'Associazione Peppino Sarina.
- Nikolić, Jovan. 1982. Dosti khatinendar. Gost Niotkuda. Pesme. Vršac/Vîrset: Bibloteka Kov.
- Nikolić, Jovan. 1998. *Male Nočne Pesme. Cikne rjatune Đilja.* Novi Sad: Društvo Vojvodine za jezik i kultura i knjiñevnost Roma.
- Nikolić, Jovan, and Ruždija Russo Sejdović. 2004. *Kosovo mon amour: Tragi-comédie ou drame tsigane* translated by Marcel Courthiades. L'Espace d'un instant.
- Nikolić, Jovan. 2006. Weißer Rabe, schwarzes Lamm. Klagenfurt: Drava.
- Nikolić, Miso. 1997. Und dann Zogen wir weiter. Klagenfurt: Drava.
- Nikolić, Mišo. 2000. Landfahrer. Auf den Wegen eines Rom. Klagenfurt: Drava.
- Nunev, Jossif. 2003. Romski prikazki / Romane Paramisya. Sofia: Stigmati.
- Odley, Tom. 2002. Romani lav gilya: an anthology of Romani poetry & song. Chatham: T. Odley.
- Pankova, Olga. 1933. Amare dyvesa. Gilja. Moskva-Leningrad: Hudozhestvennaja literatura.
- Pankova, Olga. 1938. *Gilja*. Moskva: Hudozhestvennaja literatura. Papusza. 1956. *Piesni Papuszy*. Wrocław: Ossolinski.



Parushev, Georgi. ed. 2002. Antologija na romskata poezija. Antologija e romane poezijake. Anthology of Roma Poetry. Sofia: Biblioteka Zhitan.

Parushev, Georgi. 2006. Hamali na ilyuzii. Sofia: Bâlgarski pisatel.

- Patočkova, Veronika, Hrsg. 2013. *Roma-Autoren erzäjlen ... Kurzgeschichten und Gedichte aus Ungarn, Tschechien und Slowakei*. Berlin: Roma Trieal e.V.
- Petrov, Mihail. 1996. *Mo Vogi/Dushata Mi*. Sofia: Balkanska Fondacia "Diversity"/ Balkanikani Fondacija pe Interkulturake Edukacij "Diversity".
- Petrovski, Traiko. 2001. Romani Folk Songs from Macedonia. Romski Narodni Pesni od Makedonija Skopje: Institution of Folklore "Marko Cepenkov".
- Poljakova, Marija. 1931. Romane rakiribe. Moskva: Centrizdato.
- Procop, Svetlana. 2008. "Émergence de la littérature tsigane en République de Moldavie." *Etudies Tsiganes* 36: 50-165
- Pushkin, Alexandr. 1937. *Tsygany* translated by Nikolaj Pankov. Moskva: Gosudarstvennoe Izdateľstvo.
- Puxon, Grattan & Donald Kenrick. 1988. Berša Bibahtale. London: Romanestan Publications.
- Reeve, Dominic. 1960. No Place Like Home. London: Phoenix House, 1960.
- Rom Lebedev, Ivan. 1930. Baht. Rasskaz. Москва: Centrizdato.
- Roma Community and Advocacy Centre. 1999. *Kanadake-Romane Mirikle /Canadian Romani Pearls*. Toronto: Roma Community and Advocacy Centre.
- Rom Som. Romane Poetongi Antologia/Anthology of Gypsy poets/Ciganyok Költök Versei. 1995.
- Romanez, Esmeralda. 1998. Les chemins de l'arc-en-ciel. Paris: Wallada.
- Romani-Project Graz/Michael Wogg. "Roma literature." *Roma culture factsheets*. Council of Europe. http://romafacts.uni-graz.at/index.php/literature/roma-literature/roma-literature.



Romowie-Roma-Romanies. 2011. Wroclaw: PROM.

Rostas-Farkas, Gyorgy, ed. 1993. Maladyipe / Találkozás. Budapest: Muforditasok.

Rosenberg, Otto. 1998. Das Brennglas. Berlin: Eichhorn.

- Sadílková, Helena. 2009. "La littérature romani en République Tchèque: sources et état actuel." *Etudes tsiganes* 36: 182-203.
- Salijesor, Selajdini. 1984. Bahtale dive atar mire sune. Preševa: Univerziteti e bućengor.

Salijesor, Seljajdin. 1988. Dzivdipe maškaro Roma, Preševa: Grafolex.

Sampson, John. 1931. *Romane Gilia. Romani Poems: Poems in Romani with English Renderings*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Satkevich, Nikolaj. 1974. Kostry. Sbornik stihov cyganskih poetiv. Moskva: Sovetskaja Rossija.
- Saćipeso, Mehmed. 1984. Bučarne vasta. Gilana: Prosveta.
- Saćip, Mehmed. 1984. Sofrako Miškuipe. Pomeranye Sofre. Gilana: Prosveta.
- Scheinostová, Alena. 2010. "Ženská romská próza jako zápas o sebevyjádření." In:
- *Česká literatura v perspektivách genderu* edited by Jan Matonoha. Praha: Academia Nakladatelství Akropolis.
- Schöpf, Paula. 1997. La mendicante dei sogni, Bolzano: Atelier grafico.
- Serbez, Šeyh-ül-Ülema Fazli. 2002 (2nd edition). *Dženeteskere Bahče*. Skope: Teološki Islamski Tarikatski Visoko-obrazoven Centar.
- Serbezovski, Muharem. 1983. Šareni dijamanti. Veselin Masleša.
- Sejdić, Marko-Aladin. 2000. *Me avav dural. Io vengo da lontano*. Milan: I.S.U. Universita Cattolica. Romani-Italian poetry.

Sejdić, Rasim 1987. Rasim poeta zingaro edited and translated by Giulio Soravia.

Sejdić, Rasim, and Giulio Soravia. 1978. "Lo zingaro e il Gagio." Lacio Drom 5: 4-24.

Sejdović, Ruždija-Ruso. 1988 Svjetlost u ponoć. E jak an-e rat. Titograd.

- Sijercic, Hedina. 2009. *Rromane Paramicha (a Collection of Romani Folktales)*. Magoria Books.
- Skogholt, P., and K. Lilleholt. En for hverandre: Sigøynere Milos Karol og Frans Josef forteller (One for All: Gypsies Milos Karol and Frans Josef Relate). Oslo: Gyldendal, 1978.

Slavkova, Magdalena. 2007. Ciganite evangelsiti v Bâlgarija. Sofia: Paradigma.

Slee, Yvonne. 2005. Torn Away Forever. Queensland: Amber Press.

- Smith, Anthony. 2000. Myths and Memories of the Nation. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Smith, Charles. 1990. *The Spirit of the Flame: Poems by Charlie Smith*. Manchester, UK: Travellers Education Service.

So si o Islamo. 2004. Translated by Bajram Haliti. Beograd.

Spinelli, Santino. 1988. Gilì Romanì. Canto Zingaro. Roma: Lacio Drom.

- ____ 1993. *Romanipè / Ziganità, Raccolta di Poesia Zingara.* Chieti: Zolfanelli/ Marino Solfanelli Editore.
- ____, ed. 1995-1997. Baxtalo Drom / Felice Cammino, 3 vols, Lanciano: Edizioni Tracce.
- ____ 1997. "Introduction." In: Baxtaló Drom / Felice Cammino vol. III: Antologia delle migliori opere del 4º Concorso Artistico Internazionale "Amico Rom", 9-12. Thèm Romanó: Lanciano.
- Stojka, Ceija. 1988. *Wir leben im Verborgenen. Erinnerungen einer Rom-Zigeunerin.* Wien: Picus.
- Stojka, Ceija. 1992. Reisende auf dieser Welt. Aus dem Leben einer Rom-Zigeunerin. Wien: Picus.
- Stojka, Karl. 1994. Auf der ganzen Welt zuhause. Das Leben und Wandern des Zigeuners Karl Stojka. Wien: Picus.

Stojka, Karl. 2000. Mein Name im Dritten Reich: Z 5742. Wien.



- Stojka, Mongo. 2000. Papierene Kinder. Glück, Zerstörung und Neubeginn einer Roma-Familie in Österreich. Wien: Molden.
- Stojko, Steva et al. 1999. Kali čirikli. Der Schwarze Vogel. Geschichte in Romanes und Deutsch. Köln/Cologne: Rom e.V. & Rromano Pero.
- Svetlovo, Leksa. 1938. Rom Hvasyu. Moskva: Hudizhestvennaja literatura.
- Szego, Laszlo. 1980. Cigány bölcsödal. Budapest: Mora.
- Szego, Laszlo. 1977. Csikóink kényesek. Budapest: Europa Konyvkiado.
- Szepesi, József. 1983. Elszórtan, mint a gyom. Salgótarján: Nógrád Megyei Tanács.
- Tcherenkov, Lev, and Stéphane Laederich. 2004. *The Rroma. Volume 2: Traditions and Texts*. Basel: Schwabe Verlag.
- Taikon, Katerina, ed. 1964. Zigenerdikter. Stockholm: FIB's Lyrikklubb, 1964.
- Taikon, Katerina. 1970. Förlat att vi stör. Stockholm.
- Taikon Melker, Ramona, and Ann Eriksson. 2010. *Marie Claude Jekh řomani šej / Marie Claude en romsk tjej*. Huddinge: ERG förlag.
- Taykon, Alyosha and Gunilla Lundgren. 2003. *From Coppersmith to Nurse: Alyosha the son of a Gypsy chief* translated by Donald Kenrick. Centre de Recherches Tsiganes/ University of Hertfordshire Press.
- Tebbutt, Susan, ed. *Gypsies in German-Speaking Society and Literature*. New York: Berghahn Books, 1998.
- Toninato, Paola. 2013. *Romani Writing: Literacy, Literature and Identity Politics*. Taylor & Francis.
- Trevisan, Paola. 2008. Etnografia di un libro. Scritture, politiche e parentela in una comunita di sinti. Roma: CISU Edizioni.
- Tschawo, Latscho. 1984. *Die Befreiung des Latscho Tschawo: Ein Sinto-Leben in Deutschland.* Bornheim-Merten: Lamuv.

Uhlik, Rade. 1937. Romane gjilja - Ciganske pesme. Prijedor: Vu...en štrbac.

- Valmiki. *Valmiki's Ramayana*. Translated into Romani by Leksa Manush. Chandigarh: Roma Publications.
- Whyte, Betsy. 1979. The Yellow on the Broom: The Early Days of a Traveller Woman. Edinburgh: Chambers.
- Williamson, Duncan. 1989. May the Devil Walk behind Ye. Edinburgh: Canongate
- Williamson, Duncan, and Linda Williamson. 1987. A Thorn in the King's Foot: Folktales of the Scottish Travelling People. Harmondsworth: Penguin.
- Williamson, Duncan. 1994. *The Horsieman: Memories of a Traveller, 1928–1958*. Edinburgh: Canongate.
- Winterstein, Adolf Boko. 1988. Zigeunerleben: Der Lebensbericht des Sinti-Musikers und Geigenbauers edited by Erich Renner. Frankfurt am Main: Buchergilde Gutenberg.
- Zdunić, Drago, Niro Vavpotić, and Tone Pavcek. 1978. *Amen sam e Titoske, O Tito si amaro* translated into Romani by Jusuf, Šaip et al. Ljubljana: Univerzum.
- Šainović, Kadrija. 1975. *Ciganske intime* [Gypsy Intimacy, Serbo-Croatian]. Kruševac: Bogdala.
- Šainović, Krdija, and Osman Balić. 2001. *Jabuka u srcu / Phabaj ano ili / Apple in the heart*. Niš: Smotra kulturnih dostignuća Roma Srbije.
- Šebková, Hana. 2003. "Počátky romské literatury v České a Slovenské republice" http:// www.iliteratura.cz/Clanek/10183/sebkova-hana-pocatky-romske-literatury-v-ceskea-slovenske-republice

Literature in Romani published in USSR in 20s and 30s of 20thc*

Александрова, Зинаида. 1935. Амарэ ясли. Москва: Детгиз.

Амосов, Николай. 1932а. Марибэ палэ социализмо и религия. Москва.

Амосов, Николай. 1932b.- Пало бидэвлытконэ чяворэндэ. Москва.

Андреев, Б. 1933 - Вешшество дра природа и техника. Москва.

- Анисимов, Н. И. 1934 Почвакиро оббутякирибэ, уфэдырякирибэна тэ посево. Москва.
- Anonymus 1931 а Со и сыр силосовать дрэ колхозы. Москва.

Anonymus 1931 b - Альманахо романэ поэтэн. Москва.

Anonymus 1932 а - Зярнытко культуры. Москва.

Апопутия 1932 b - Колхозцентрос СССР и РСФСР. Ваш организация бутен дро колхозы. Москва.

Anonymus 1932 с - Зоркэдыр тэ ракхэс общественно собственность. Москва.

Anonymus 1932 d - Тэ зорьякирэс революцыонно законность. Москва.

Anonymus 1933 а - ВЛКСМ. Уставо Всесоюзно Ленинско Коммунистическо Союзо тэрныпэ. Москва.

Anonymus 1933 b - Кэ сарэ крестьянэ-колхознико. Москва.

^{*} The bibliograpgy is published at http://mail.geobiz.net/sr-www/files/Bibliography/USSR_CIS. PDF



- Апопутия 1933 с РСФСР. Конституция (основно законо) РСФСР. Издыбэ офицыально. Москва.
- Anonymus 1933 d Ваш пани тэ заразна насвалыпэна. Москва.
- Anonymus 1933 е Амаро знамё Ленино. Москва.
- Anonymus 1933 f Со дынэ колхозэ крестьянэнгэ? Лыл тов. Сталиноскэ. Москва.
- Anonymus 1934 а Марибэ насекомэнца дро кхэра. Москва, Ленинград.
- Anonymus 1934 b Ваш выкэдыбэ дрэ Советы. 1934–1935. Москва.
- Anonymus 1934 с Состыр амэ ачьям бидэвлытка. Москва.
- Anonymus 1935 Примерно уставо ваш гавитко-хулаибнытко артель. Москва.
- Anonymus 1936 а Конституция СССР. Москва.
- Anonymus 1936 b Звери барэ и тыкнэ. Москва.
- Апопутиѕ 1937 Репка. Москва.
- Anonymus 1937 Положениё пиро выкэдыбэна дрэ Верховно Совето СССР. Москва.
- Anonymus 1938 Положениё пиро выкэдыбэна дрэ Верховно Совето РСФСР. Москва.
- Артёмьев, А. 1932 Пало раннё кхасосчиныбэ тэ дуй счиныбэна. Москва.
- Бахметьев, Вл. 1935 Саструны чяр. Москва.
- Баёво, К. Л. 1936 Кхамитка затмении. Москва.
- Баничэ, Л. Ю. 1934 Со банго тэ джинэл столяро-строителэ.
- Барто, Агния 1933 Пшалорэ. Москва.
- Барто, Агния / Барто, П. 1936 а Чяёри годлытко. Москва.
- Барто, Агния / Барто, П. 1936 b Чяёри мелалы. Москва.
- Безлюдско, Максим 1932 а Со дыя советско власть романэчякэ. Москва.
- Безлюдско, Максим 1932 b *Пхагирдо дэсто. Романэ роспхэныбэна.* Москва, Ленинград.



- Безлюдско, Максим 1933 а Марибэ дошалэ ромэнца дро СССР. Москва.
- Безлюдско, Максим 1933 b Пало колхозо чюрдаса лодылэн. Москва.
- Безлюдско, Максим 1933 с Псико ко псико. Москва.
- Безлюдско, Максим 1933 d Со банго тэ джинэл бутитко ром ваш жужыпэн дрэ пэскиро быто. Москва.
- Безлюдско, Максим 1933 е Грай. Москва.
- Безлюдско, Максим 1933 f Нэво джиибэн. Гиля. Москва.
- Безлюдско, Максим 1936 Тэ дживэл камэлпэ. Роспхэныбэна. Москва, Ленинград.
- Безлюдско, Максим / Герман, Александр 1933 Ангил кэ буты. Москва.
- Белов, А.1931 Коллективна шталы. Москва.
- Берляндо, А.С. 1931 Пэрво помощь дро набахтало случяи. Москва.
- Богданов, И. М. (и др.) 1933 Арифметика. Москва.
- Богданов, И. М. (и др.) 1935 Арифметическо задэибнытко. Москва.
- Брей, А. 1936 Чириклэ. Москва.
- Булатов, М. 1936 Кхэритка животна. Москва.
- Бухгольцо, Н. А. 1933 Арифметика. Ваш 3 бэрш сыкляибэ. Москва.
- Варламов, И. С. [и др.] 1933 Колхознонэ конюхоскиро справочнико. Москва.
- Вентцель, Т. В. 1932 Романы чиб. Ваш 3 бэрш. Москва.
- Вентцель, Т. В. 1933 Элементарно грамматика. Ваш 3 и 4 бэрш. Москва.
- Вентцель, Т. В. 1934 Элементарно грамматика. Ваш 3 и 4 бэрш. Москва.
- Вентцель, Т. В. 1936 Лылвари пиро романы чиб. Москва.
- Виноградов, Н. 1935 *Савэ сы льготы ваш лолэ армейцэнгэ и ваш лэнгирэ семьи.* Москва.



Воеводин, А. 1931 - Осеннё сево и нэво приливо дрэ колхозы. Москва.

Ворошилов, К. 1931 - Авэла ли мэрибэ? Москва.

Гавитко, М. Ф. 1934 - Хулаибнытко машынэнгиро тэ орудиенгиро ремонто. Москва.

- Герасимов, Т. 1933 Фаурнытко рэндо дрэ колхозэ и совхозэ. Москва.
- Герман, Александр В. 1929 Нэво джиибэн. Москва.
- Герман, Александр В. 1930 Атасятуно бурмистро. Москва.
- Герман, Александр В. 1932 а Романо театро. Кхэлыбэна. Джибэн прэ роты. Машкир яга. Палага пэрво. Москва.
- Герман, Александр В. (и др.) 1932 b Сыклякирдэ чявэнгэ. Москва.
- Герман, Александр В. 1933 а *Лэс кхардэ рувэса и ваврэ роспхэныбэна*. Москва, Ленинград.
- Герман, Александр В. / Панков, О. 1933 b Серёга Лагуно. Москва.
- Герман, Александр В. 1933 с Джяна нэвэ рома. Москва.
- Герман, Александр В. 1934 а Романо альманахо. Москва.
- Герман, Александр В. 1934 b Лолэ яга; гиля. Москва.
- Герман, Александр В. 1934 с Яв прэ стрэга. Москва.
- Герман, Александр В. 1934 d Лылвари ваш гиныбэ. Ч. 1. Москва 1934; Ч. 2. Москва 1934.
- Герман, Александр В. 1935 а Ганка Чямба и ваврэ роспхэныбэна. Москва.
- Герман, Александр В. 1935 b Гиля. Москва.
- Герман, Александр В. 1937 Роспхэныбэна дрэ гиля. Москва.
- Герман, Александр В. 1938 Нэвэ гиля. Москва.
- Герман, Александр В. / Вентцель, Т. В. 1934 Лылвари пиро романы чиб. Ч. 1. Москва.
- Герман, Александр В. / Панков, Н. А. 1932 *Пало сыкляибэ. Лылвари ваш 1 бэрш.* Москва.



- Герман, Александр В. / Панков, Н. А. 1934 *Хрестомати пиро литература ваш трито бэрш сыкляибэ*. Москва.
- Гольдин, М. 1935 Ваш джиибэ саво амэ на дыкхаса. Москва.
- Горький, Максим 1931 Коли враго на здэлапэ лэс хаськирна. Москва.
- Горький, Максим 1932 Макаро Чюдра и ваврэ роспхэныбэна. Москва.
- Горький, Максим 1934 Страсти-мордасти и ваврэ роспхэныбэна. Москва.
- Горяинов, А. 1932 Вредители дрэ рираля. Москва.
- Гремяцкий, М. 1931 Выгыя ли мануш обезьянатыр. Москва.
- Гусево, А. / Гусево, В. 1931 Ласа прэ стрэга. Москва.
- Гусево, А. 1932 Барьёваса дрэ марибэна. Москва.
- Данилов, С. И. 1931 Минеральна удобрения и урожаё. Москва.
- Дмитриев, С. 1935 Пал мамонтостэ. Москва.
- Дмитриев, С. 1937 Дрэ тундра. Москва.
- Доброхотова, А. И. 1933 *Сыр тэ борисоспэ э лынаскирэ чяворытконэ понососа.* Москва.
- Дударё, П. 1932 Угиныбэн бутя дрэ колхозы. Москва.
- Дударова, Н. А. 1928 Нэво дром (букварё). Москва.
- Дударова Н. А. 1929 Пало власть советэн. Е библиотека ваш набут сыклякирде манушенге. Москва.
- Дударова, Н. А. 1932 а Дром ко сыкляибэн. Лылвари. Москва.
- Дударова, Н. А. 1932 b Амари Буты (букварё). Москва.
- Дударова, Н. А. 1933 а Аваса лылварэнса (букварё). Москва.
- Дударова, Н. А. 1933 b Родно чиб. Москва.
- Дударова, Н. А. 1934 Букварё ваш начяльно школа. Москва.

- Дударова, Н. А. / Панков, Н. А. 1928 Букварё ваш баре манушенге. Москва.
- Дударова, Н.А. / Панков, Н. А. 1930 а Джиды буты (букварё). Москва.
- Дударова, Н. А. / Панков, Н. А. 1930 b Лолы чергэнори. Книга ваш гинэибэн. Москва.
- Ельяшук, А. 1932 Сыр чячюнэс тэ барьякирэс кхэтанэ чявэн и чяен дрэ семья. Москва.
- Житков, Б. 1932 Ваш адая лылвари. Москва.
- Житков, Б. 1936 Ваш обезьянкакэ. Москва, Ленинград.
- Зорич, А. 1935 Дуй роспхэныбэна. Москва.
- Зубков, Е. В. 1933 Пэрытко тифо. Москва, Ленинград.
- Ильинско, М. 1932 Раскиро подыпэ. Роспхэныбэна. Москва, Ленинград.
- Ильинско, М. 1934 Шатрытко яг. Роспхэныбэна. Москва.
- Ильинско, М. / Ром-Лебедев, Иван 1938 Роспхэныбэна тэ патриня. Москва.
- Искринский, М. 1932 Бутярица, яв бидэвлытконаса. Москва.
- Кагановичё, Л. М. 1933 Ракирибэ прэ пэрво сарэсоюзно съездо колхозникэнгироударникэнгиро. Москва.
- Карпинско, В. А. 1934 Ракирибэ ваш ленинизмо. Влыджяибэ и 1 ракирибэ. Москва.
- Кассилё, Лев 1935 Будёнышэ. Москва.
- Киселёво 1932 Можынэна-ли тэ отджидэн мулэн. Москва.
- Кокорина, З. 1932 Бутярны колхозница крестьянка сыклёв военнона рэндоскэ. Москва.
- Коренево, В. П. 1934 Юридическо справочник. Москва.
- Короленко, Владимир Г. 1935 Макароскиро соибэ. Москва.
- Королёв, Ф. 1931 Со сы пэстыр политехнизмо. Москва.
- Косарев, А. В. 1931 Отгиныбэн ЦК ВЛКСМ прэ IX съездо. Москва.



- Косарев, А. В. 1932 Штарто завершающиё панджбэршытко и комсомолэнгирэ конференция ВЛКСМ. Москва.
- Косиоро, С. В. 1934 Подгиныбэн и пашилатунэ задэибэна. Москва.
- Кочеткова. Д. 1932 Гришкаскири дружина. Москва.
- Крюндель, А. Ф. 1932 Автомобилё, кай и сыр лэс кэрна. Москва.
- Кузьмино, И. П. 1934 Романы чиб. Граматика, орфография и чибакиро роскхуибэн. 2 бэрш.
- Кулишер-Бунцэльман, И. 1932 Соскэ нашты тэ марэс чявэн. Москва.
- Лебедев, Г. 1930 Нэвэ глоса. Москва.
- Лебедев, Г. Ваш комсомоло. Москва.
- Лебедев, Н. К. 1935 а Архангельска Робинзоны. Москва.
- Лебедев, Н. К. 1935 b Пэрво моло пиро пхувьякиро крэнглипэн. Москва.
- Лебедев, Н. К. 1937 Екхджино машкир дикарендэ. Москва.
- Леви, М. Ф. 1934 *Со банги тэ джинэл колхозница ваш джювлякири насвалыпэ.* Москва, Ленинград.
- Леви, М. Ф. 1935 Джювлякири гигиена. Москва, Ленинград.
- Леонтовичё, А. 1932 Лужениё, паяниё и кэрибэ састырэстыр. Москва.
- Ляшко, Н. 1935 Роспхэныбэн ваш случаё. Москва.
- Мальцево, А. И. 1933 Марибэ э дылынэ чярьенца. Москва.
- Мериме, Проспер 1935 Кармэн. Москва.
- Морковин, А. В. 1934 Основы дрэ слесарна бутя. Москва.
- Мохначёв, И. 1934 Пэрва рэнды дрэ колхозно буты. Москва.
- Неверов, А. 1930 Ракирибэна ваш тыкнэ чяворэнгэ. Москва.
- Нечяево, И. 1932 Ракх металло ржавчинатыр. Москва.

Никитин, А. И. 1932 - Математика. Ваш 1 бэрш. Москва.

Новиков-Прибой, Алексей 1935 - Кэрдо. Москва.

Огрызко, И. 1933 - Конэскэ бутякирна рашая. Москва.

Олейников, Н. 1932 - Хачькирдэ дывэса. Москва.

Орлова Е. 1933 - Прэ фэлды мурдёна яга. Москва, Ленинград.

Осипов, Л. 1931 - Со банги тэ джинэл доильщица. Москва.

- Палер, С. 1932 Интернационально барьякирибэн чяворэнь дрэ жыкошкольна бэрша. Москва.
- Панков, Николай А. 1929 Буты и джинаибэн. Москва.
- Панков, Николай А. 1933 *Хрестоматия пиро литература ваш 4 бэрш сыкляибэ*. Москва.
- Панков, Николай А. 1934 а Букварё. Ваш налылварэ манушэнгэ. Москва.
- Панков, Николай А. 1934 b *Лылвари ваш гиныбэн, ваш набутлылварэнгири школа.* Москва.
- Панков, Николай А. 1935 Лылвари ваш гиныбэн. Москва.
- Панков, О. 1932 Комсомоло дрэ марибэ пало нэво джиибэ. Москва.

Панков, О. 1933 - Амарэ дывэса. Москва, Ленинград.

Панков, О. 1936 - Ростасадо джиибэн. Москва.

Панков, О. 1938 - Гиля. Москва.

Парфутино, Н. 1932 - Задыбэ ромэн дро социалистическо розлыджяибэ грэн. Москва.

Перовско, Е. 1931 - Свэнта мощи тэ чюда. Москва.

Петелино, Я. И. 1934 - Псирибэ пало станко. Москва.

Петров, А. 1933 - Пролетариёскиро дром. Москва.

Плавильщиков, Н. 1931 - Сортированно кигив кэрла учедыр урожаё. Москва.



- Полякова, М. 1930 а Сыр Маша гыя тэ сыклёл. Москва.
- Полякова, М. 1930 b Холямо башно. Москва.
- Полякова, М. 1931 Романэ ракирибэ. Москва.
- Покровско, С. В. 1932 Ракирибэна ваш животнонэнгиро размножениё. Москва.
- Полянско, С. Н. (и др.) 1932 Тэ сыклёс и тэ бутякирес. Лылвари. Москва.
- Попова, Н. С. 1933 Арифметика. Ч. З. Москва.
- Попова, Н. С. 1934 а Арифметика. Ваш начяльно школа. Ч. 1-2. Москва.
- Попова, Н. С. 1934 b Арифметическа задэибэна и упражнении. Москва.
- Попова, Н. С. 1934 с Арифметическа задэибэна и упражнении. Ч. 2. Москва.
- Потёмкино, И. Е. 1932 География. Москва.
- Потёмкино, И. Е. / Терехово, П. 1935 География. Москва.
- Пушкин, Александр С. 1935 Дубровско. Москва.
- Пушкин, Александр С. 1936 а *Парамыся ваш пхурэскэ и мачёрэскэ*. Москва, Ленинград.
- Пушкин, Александр С. 1936 b Станционно смотрителё. Москва.
- Пушкин, Александр С. 1937 а Капитаноскири чяй. Москва.
- Пушкин, Александр С. 1937 b Рома. Москва.
- Рассадниково 1931 Задэибэн уборочнонэ кампания. Москва.
- Редькин, А. Д. 1932 Розлыджяибэ балычен дрэ колхозно товарищество ферма. Москва.
- Ржехин, И. Ф. 1932 Э кукуруза и сорго сыр хабнытка растения. Москва.
- Роги, М. 1934 Амэ кхараса. Москва.
- Ром-Лебедев, Иван 1930 Бахт. Москва.

- Ром-Лебедев, Иван 1931 Кхам дрэ блата. Москва.
- Ром-Лебедев, Иван 1938 Роспхэныбэна тэ патриня. Москва.
- Российский, Л. М. 1930 Кхэритко и пэскири гигиена дрэ гавитко семья. Москва.
- Саконская, Н. 1936 Лылвари ваш штар цвэтэ. Москва, Ленинград.
- Светлов, Л. 1938 Ром Хвасю. Москва.
- Скоморохов, А. 1931 Ракхэнте ското заразнонэ насвалипнастыр. Москва.
- Смольняков, П. И. 1934 Севооборото. Москва, Ленинград.
- Соколов, Н. 1931 Ваш залынэ и на залынэ пары. Москва.
- Ставско, В. 1935 Зоралыдыр мулыпнастыр. Москва.
- Стерлин, С. 1929 Соса населениё помогискирла лолякэ армиякэ. Москва.
- Стерлин, С. 1930 Соса населениё помогискирла лолякэ армиякэ, коли авела марибе. Пирикедры и ририлиджины пре романы чиб Г. Лебедевонеса. Москва.
- Тайц, Я. 1932 Сигналистоскиро роспхэныбэ. Москва.
- Таранов, А. 1930 Нэво гав. Москва.
- Таранов, А. 1932 а Амари зор. Москва.
- Таранов, А. 1932 b Комсомоло и классово марибэ машкир ромэндэ. Москва.
- Таранов, А. 1933 Профсоюзы пало ленинско знамя. Москва.
- Тарараев, А. 1933 Рашай обхохадя. Москва.
- Татаев, Н. А. 1931 Организация бутэн дрэ колхозы. Москва.
- Терехова, Л. Г. / Эрдели, В. Г. 1933 География. Ч. 2. Москва.
- Терехова Л. Г. / Эрдели, В. Г. 1934 География. Ч. 1. Москва.
- Терехова Л. Г. / Эрдели, В. Г. 1935 География. Ч. 1. Москва.
- Терехова, Л. Г. / Эрдели, В. Г. 1936 География. Ч. 2. Москва.



- Тетюрев, В. А. 1933 Естествознание. Ч. 2. Москва.
- Тетюрев, В. А. 1934 Естествознание. Ч. 1. Москва.
- Тетюрев, В. А. 1935 Естествознание. Лылвари ваш начяльно школа ваш барэ манушэнгэ. Москва.
- Товстуха, И. 1933 Иосифо Виссарионовичё Сталино. Москва.
- Толстой, Лев Н. 1933 Трин рыча. Москва, Ленинград.
- Толстой, Лев Н. 1935 Роспхэныбэна ваш животнонэнгэ. Москва.
- Толстой, Лев Н. 1936 Коли прогыя бало. Москва.
- Трахтман, Я. 1933 Хаськираса оспа. Москва.
- Ульянова-Елизарова, А. И. 1932 Тыкнэ и сыкляибнытка бэрша Ильичёс. Москва.
- Ульянова-Елизарова, А. И. 1933 Взрипирибэна ваш Ильичёскэ. Москва.
- Федоровский, И. М. 1933 Дрэ розродыбэ пало тиминитка минералы тэ руды. Москва.
- Фридман, В. Г. 1933 а Прэ со рикирлапэ пхув. Москва.
- Фридман, В. Г. 1933 b Прэ со рикирлапэ пхув. Москва.
- Хрусталё, В. 1936 Гиля. Москва.
- Цыммермано, М. М. 1935 Арифметика. Москва.
- Чачно, М. 1932 Миро мастеро. Москва.
- Шапошников, К. Д. 1932 *Псирибэн палэ бутитконэ грэстэ дрэ колхозо и совхозо.* Москва.
- Шейнисо, С. 1935 Чюдо бичюдесэн гиро (животно и со лэс окрэнглякирла дро свэто). Москва.
- Шибанов, А. А. (и др.) 1932 Тэрно розугалыбнари. Ваш 3 бэрш. Москва.
- Шолохов, Михаил 1934 Дрэ бригада прорискирибэ. Москва.

Шотман, А. В. 1935 - Амаро Сарэсоюзно староста. Москва.

Эрдэ, Д. 1931 - Прэ крэнто газдылэ. Москва.

Юрцовск, М. 1932 - Про марибэ э нашаибнаса урожаёс дро колхозы. Москва.

Яковлев, А. Я. 1935 - Подгиныбэн прэ второ Сарэсоюзно колхозарьенгироударникэнгиро съездо.

Publications in Romani language and by Roma authors from Serbia

- Acković, Dragoljub. 1997. Čitajte ljudi/ Ginavnen romalen. Beograd: Rrominterpress.
- Acković, Dragoljub, ed. 2003. *Bi kheresko, bi li moresko / Bez doma, bez groba*. [izbor poezije Roma u Srbiji i Crnoj Gori]. Smederevo: Arka.
- ALBUM dečjih prava / Albumi i të drejtave të fëmijëve/ Gyermek jogi album / Album taro tchavorikane krisija. 2004. Beograd: Centar za prava deteta.
- Aliriza, Aguši i Behljulj Galjuš, eds. 1987. *Khamutne diveso: lil ando đivdipa thaj resibe e Romengo / Sunčani dani: list o životu i stvaralaštvu Roma*. Železnik: Društvo "Rom" / Beograd: Borba.
- Amalipe Rom, Železnik Beograd, Jugoslavija: 1969-1989. 1989. Beograd: Društvo Rom.
- Bagdasarajan, Rozana. 2004. *Mrak / Raćin / A Sötétség*. Beograd: Centar za interaktivnu pedagogiju.
- Bakić, Aleksandar. 2000. Delem, delem: hanigake romane dilja kotar Južno Srbija / Delem, delem: izvorne pesme Roma Južne Srbije. Leskovac: Doma kulture Roma. Bećković, Marija. 2004. Alosarde dilja. [Alosarda em nakhada pi rromani čhib Slavimir Demirović]. Prokuplje: Dom kulture /Književno društvo "Rade Drainac" / Svet knjige.

Berberski, Slobodan. 1950. Za kišom biće duga. Zagreb: Novo Pokoljenje.

Berberski, Slobodan. 1950. Proleće i oči. Matica Srpska.

Berberski, Slobodan. 1955. Uze.

Berberski, Slobodan. 1959. Nevreme. Beograd: Nolit.

75

- Berberski, Slobodan. 1959. Dnevnik rata.
- Berberski, Slobodan. 1964. Blag dan.
- Berberski, Slobodan. 1968. Kote. Cetinje: Obod.
- Berberski, Slobodan. 1976. Odlazak brata Jakala. Beograd: Nolit.
- Berberski, Slobodan. 1977. Kao beskožni jeleni.
- Berberski, Slobodan. 1979. Odhod brata Jakala. Beograd: Nolit.
- Berberski, Slobodan. 1979. *Još san sebe da dovrši.* Zrenjanin: Gradska biblioteka "Žarko Zrenjanin".
- Cvetković, Vladimir. 2003. Sa margina: Romi i zanimanja / Tare agora: e Roma thaj e bućaripa / From the Margins: Roma and vocations. Niš: Punta.
- Demirović, Slavimir. 2001. *U potrazi za srećom: pesme / Dromaripe pali bah: đilja*. Prokuplje: Topličke novine.
- Derić, Vojislav. 2004. *Berači daljina / Ćidutne e durimatenđe*. [nakhada kater e serbikani Alija Krasnići]. Beograd: Singidunum.
- Dimić, Moma. 2002. *Ciganski krevet*. [preveo na romski jezik Alija Krasnići]. Beograd: Prominterpress.
- Dimić, Trifun, ed. 1979. Kana vasas ando foro / Dolazeći sa vašara: antologija narodne poezije vojvođanskih Roma. Novi Sad: Srpska čitaonica i knjižnica Irig.
- Dimić, Trifun. 1985. *Romane romaja, sovlahimate thaj e bahtarimate / Romske kletve zakletve i blagoslovi*. Novi Sad: Srpska čitaonica i knjižnica Irig.
- Dimić, Trifun. 1986. Narodna romska poezija. Novi Sad: Marica srpska.

Dimić, Trifun. 1996. Vreme samoće. Novi Sad.

Dimić, Trifun 1997. Tradicijako rromano lilaripe ande Vojvodina / Tradicijska romska književnost u Vojvodini: lektira palo pandžto klaso fundoske školako.



- Dimić, Trifun. 1998. *Prne ando praho / Stopala u prašini*. Novi Sad: Društvo Vojvodine za jezik književnost i kulturu Roma.
- Dimić, Trifun 2010. Sutra ću na put: pesme. Novi Sad: Zavod za kulturuVojvodine.
- Dretar, Tomislav. 1991. *Bol, ciganska rapsodija / Dukhalipe, rromani rapsodija*. [preveo na romski jezik Trifun Dimić]. Novi Sad: Društvo Vojvodine za jezik, književnost i kulturu Roma.
- *Đili pe điljende*. 1991. [pe rromani čhib nakhada Trifun Dimić]. Novi Sad: Društvo Vojvodine za jezik, književnost i kulturu Roma.
- Đorđević, Dragoljub B. 2004. *Mačke peru veš: bajke Roma jugoistočne Srbije* [prevod na romski i romski rečnik Baja Saitović Lukin; prevod na engleski Tamara Saimonović]. Niš: Italian Consortium for Solidarity: Sven.
- Đorđević, Dragoljub B., ed. 2005. *Romani Cult Places and Culture of Death = Romane kultna thana thay i kultura meribasiri* [nakhavdo Baja Saitović-Lukin ... et al.]. Niš: Yugoslav Society for the Scientific Study of Religion.
- Đorđević, Dragoljub B. i Jovan Živković, eds. 2002. *Romi na raskršću: (prava manjina i manjinskih zajednica) / Roma at The Crossroads / O Roma ko ulavde droma*. Niš: Punta / Društvo dobre akcije / Komrenski sociološki susreti / Bahtalo drom.
- Đorđević, Dragoljub. 2002. Sociologija romskog identiteta: dva izborna kursa / Sociology of Roma Identity: two Optional Courses / Sociologija taro romano identiteti: duj elekcijake kursija. Komrenski sociološki susreti: Cmyk.
- Đurić, Rajko. 1969. *Rom rodel than talav kham / Rom traži mesto pod suncem*. Beograd: Savez kulturno prosvetnih društava.
- Đurić, Rajko. 1979. Bi kheresko bi limorsko / Bez doma bez groba. Beograd: Nolit.
- Đurić, Rajko. 1980. Prastara reč daleki svet. Beograd: Narodna knjiga.

Đurić, Rajko. 1982. A thaj U / A I U. Beograd: Narodna knjiga.

Đurić, Rajko. 1984. Jaga-vatre. Leskovac: Nepredak.



Đurić, Rajko. 1985. Romske zagonetke. Beograd: Srpska akademija nauka i umetnosti.

Đurić, Rajko. 1985. Hefestovi učenici. Beograd: BIGZ.

- Đurić, Rajko. 2005. *Gramatika romskog jezika / Gramatika e rromane čhibaki*. [prevod na romski Alija Krasnići]. Novi Beograd: Otkrovenje/ Phučaripen/ Novi Sad: Budućnost.
- Đurić, Rajko. 1980. *Prastara reč daleki svet / Purano svato o dur them*. Beograd: Narodna knjiga / Slovo ljubve.
- Đurić, Gordana. 1989. Dukhaldo ilo ranjeno srce. Novi Sad: Dorba Vest.
- *Gilgameš: đilji merimaski.* 1996. [pe rromani čhib nakhada Trifun Dimić]. Novi Sad: Društvo Vojvodine za jezik i književnost Roma "Alav e Rromengo".
- Haliti, Bajram. 2000. Badalesi angrustin. Beograd: Stručna knjiga.
- Haliti, Bajram. 2003. *E Rroma anglal e mudarimasko duvari e Aušvicosko / Romi pred zidom smrti Aušvica*. [predgovor Rajko Đurić ; prevod sa romskog jezika Bajram Haliti ; prepev uz pomoć autora Biljana Ivančević]. Beograd: B. Haliti/ Zemun: Birograf.
- Haliti, Bajram. 2004. *Poema o Mum Tadž Mahal / Poema katar e Mum Tadž Mahal / Mumtaz Mahal Poem*. Beograd: Memorijalni centar Roma za holokaust studije Srbije i Crne Gore.
- Ilić, Rozalija. 2001. *Dokle*? [preveo na romski jezik Alija Krasnići]. Kragujevac: Romski informativni centar.
- Inđin, Ivana. 2002. *Lil multikulturizmosko* [prevod Tamara Jovanović]. Novo Sado: Maškar pala multikulturalnost.
- Jovanović, Dragoljub. 2003. *Koj o Devel.* [prevod na romski Slavica Stanković]. Beograd: Biblijska liga.
- Jovanović, Jelena et al. 2002. *Prilozi za istraživanje tradicije Roma u Sremu*. Novi Sad: Futura publikacije.
- Jovanović, Rajko-Ranko. 2003. Rromane čirikljorra. Novi Sad: CIP-Bibliotaka Matice srpske.



Jovanović, Rajko-Ranko. 2006. Roma pe droma. Novi Sad: CIP-Bibliotaka Matice srpske.

- Jovanović, Rajko-Ranko, ed. 2006. *Delem, delem lungone dromenca / Išao sam, išao dugim putevima / I Travelled, I Travelled Long Roads. Rromane dilja thaj paramiče / romske pesme i priče / Romany poems and stories.* Belgrade: Save the Children UK, SEE Programme, Serbia Country Programme.
- Jovanović, Stevan. 2004. Naša kobila: prva Romska komedija u tri čina. Zemun: Neven.
- Jovanović, Vladimir Ž. 2001. Romsko-srpsko-engleski rečnik religijskih reči i izraza / Rromano-gadžikano-anglikano alivari katar e religijski svatura / Romany-Serbian-English Dictionary of Religious Words and Phrases. Niš: Punta.
- Jovanović, Zlatomir. 2002. *Da živimo zajedno / Te trais ćidimasa / Let's Live Together* . Beograd: Zavod za udžbenike i nastavna sredstva.
- Jovanović, Zlatomir. 2001. *Lil bućarimasko: [pale rromani čhib]: palo angluno klaso fundoske školako*. Beograd: Zavod za udžbenike i nastavna sredstva.
- Jovanović, Zoran, ed. 2002. *Priče Cigana u noći / Raćutne Rromenđe paramiče*. Beograd: S. Mašić.
- Jovanović, Zoran. 2000. Da li znaš romski? / Džanes rromane? / Do You Speak Romany? Srpsko-romsko-engleski razgovornik. Beograd: S. Mašić.
- Jovičić, Predrag S. 1990. *Iščupani iz života: pesme / Inkaldo andaro điv: romane đilja*. Titovo Užice: Kulturno-prosvetna zajednica.
- Jovičić, Predrag S. 1997. Pauk pod čergom / Gndaro tela cara. [haiku]. Požega: Svitak.

Kaldaraš, Dragica. 2005. *E ćirešîn ande lulugi / Trešnja u cvetu: pesme za decu*. Vršac: Sunce.

Koneski, Blaže. 2001. Sterna. Skopje: Grafos-S.

Konstantinović-Vilić, Slobodanka. 2002. Sex Trafficking: putevi seksualne eksploatacije žena [prevod na romski Dragan Mamutović, Valter Ismailović]. Niš: Ženski istraživački centar za edukaciju i komunikaciju (Niš: Bona Fides. Krasnići, Alija. 1981. Čergarendje Jaga. Priština: Jedinstvo.

Krasnići, Alija. 1986. *Iaripe ano djuvdipe*. Priština: Jedinstvo.

Krasnići, Alija. 1989. Zvezdani snovi. Priština: Jedinstvo.

Krasnići, Alija. 1995. Prekal efta plajina. Priština: Pergament.

Krasnići, Alija. 1995. Rromane kanrralje droma. Priština: Pergament.

Krasnići, Alija. 1995. Rromani kalji paramići / Romska crna bajka. Priština: Pergament.

Krasnići, Alija, ed. 2000. *Jasenovac: antologija pesama o Jasenovcu / Jasenovac: antologija e điljenđi katar o Jasenovac.* Kragujevac / Gnjilane: Memorijalni centar Roma za holokaust studije.

- Krasnići, Ali. 2001. *DEVL!A, ker man kir: rromane paramìća andar-e Kòsova ta e Metohìa.* Beograd: Centar za stvaralaštvo mladih.
- Krasnići, Alija. 2004. *Ane mamijaći angalji*. Kragujevac: A. Krasnići (Kragujevac: Studio D@M).
- Krasnići, Alija. 2004. *Đilja amare dukhenđe*. Kragujevac A. Krasnići (Kragujevac: Studio D@M).
- Krasnići, Alija. 2002. *Đuvdimase bibahhtaljimate*. Kragujevac: A. Krasnići (Kragujevac : Unigrafika).
- Krasnići, Alija. 2005. *E bahh paćardi ćorrimasa*. Kragujevac: Maškaripe e rromane kulturako= Centar za kulturu Roma (Kragujevac : Marković).
- Krasnići, Alija. 2004. *E ćehrajin pe palma*. Kragujevac: A. Krasnići (Kragujevac: Studio D@M).

Krasnići, Alija. 2000. Elvira. Niš: Imprimé.

Krasnići, Alija. 2004. *Kaj garadol o suno?* Kragujevac: A. Krasnići (Kragujevac: Studio D@M).



- Krasnići, Alija. 2004. *Kamljipe thaj dukhajpe*. Kragujevac: A. Krasnići (Kragujevac: Studio D@M).
- Krasnići, Alija. 2004. Kasko si o kham? Kragujevac: A. Krasnići (Kragujevac: Studio D@M).
- Krasnići, Alija. 2006. *Korkorripe hamime čerćimasa*. Kragujevac: A. Krasnići (Kragujevac: Marković).
- Krasnići, Alija. 2004. *Ma rov dejone, munrrije*. Kragujevac: A. Krasnići (Kragujevac: Studio D@M).
- Krasnići, Alija. 2004. *Papo, mamije, kako, bibije*. Kragujevac: A. Krasnići (Kragujevac: Studio D@M).
- Krasnići, Alija. 2004. Rromani arrmaj. Kragujevac: A. Krasnići (Kragujevac: Studio D@M).
- Krasnići, Alija. 2000. Rromani mahlava. Kragujevac: A. Krasnići (Niš: Imprime).
- Krasnići, Alija. 2004. So vaćaren e đuvdinutna? Kragujevac: A. Krasnići (Kragujevac: Studio D@M).
- Krasnići, Alija. 2004. Vurma palje vurma. Kragujevac: A. Krasnići (Kragujevac: Studio D@M).
- Krasnići, Alija i Mehmed Saćip, ed. 1999. *Poezija rromani: antologija e rromane poezijaći ani Jugoslavija = Poezija romska : antologija romske poezije u Jugoslaviji*. Niš: Savet Smotre kulturnih dostignuća Roma Srbije (Niš : Imprimé).
- Kuburović, Tatjana. 2001. *Devl!a, ker man kir/ Bože, pretvori me u mrava!/* Lord, Turn Me Into an Ant! Beograd: Centar za stvaralaštvo mladih (Beograd: Standard 2).
- Kurtiàde, Marcel. 1990. Rromano startorro. Sarajevo: Svjetlost (Zagreb : Naša djeca).
- Macura, Vladimir. 2003. *Deponija ka boljoj budućnosti / Deponija to the Better Future / Deponija kaj majlačho avutnipe*. Beograd: Društvo za unapređivanje romskih naselja.
- Macura, Vladimir, Jasminka Cvejić, Miodrag Ferenčak, Ksenija Petovar. 1997. Romska enklava Orlovsko naselje: koncepcija održive obnove i rezultati / Inćardino nevljaripe



romane enklavako Orlovesko gav / The Concept of Sustainable Renewal of the Eagle's Nest Gypsy Enclave and Results. Beograd: Društvo za unapređivanje romskih naselja.

Mak thaj o pregome vordon: (paramiča) [tari makedonijaki ki romani chib nakhada Hadži Ali Rustemi]. 2003. Skopje: Mi-An (Skopje: Jugoreklam).

- Mihajlović, Miroslav. 2001. Ašunero Medelaha El Galija. Kruševac: Bagdala.
- Mihajlović, Miroslav. 2005. Molilese Medelaha El Galija. Beograd: JRJ.
- Miševska, Gordana. 2004. *Kuća za sve / Kher pala savore / Ablak a hegyekre mindenkinek.* Beograd: Centar za interaktivnu pedagogiju / Amsterdam: Međunarodna asocijacija "Korak po korak". Beograd: Curent.

Nevo sovlahardo ćidipe. 1990. [pe rromani čhib nakhada Trifun Dimić]. Novi Sad: Dobra vest.

- Neziri, Neđmedin. 2002. *Eh, kana kama šajiv te ćumidav o prago munrre ćheresko.* Kragujevac: N. Neziri (Kragujevac: Aston).
- Nikolić, Jovan. 1982. Gost niotkuda / Dosti khatinendar. Vršac: Književna opština.
- Osmani, Ibrahim. 2004. *Pomirenje | Baraštiba*. Preševo: Multikulturalno centri "Narajan" / Beograd: Fondi phravde amalipasor.
- Rajović, Jelka. 2001. *Hej, na phurde manđe ando muj! : sastarimanski-sikavimaski čitanka* [nakhada pe rromani čhib Trifun Dimić]. Novi Sad: Scribo.
- Savić, Svenka et al. 2001. *Romkinje: biografije starih Romkinja u Vojvodini*. Novi Sad: Futura publikacije.
- Romske duše: krivudavi drumovi do romskih duša: intervjui / Rromane ile : phađarde droma dži kaj promane ile: intervjua / Romany souls: the winding roads to romany souls: interviews. 2001. Niš: Univerzitet.

Saćip, Mehmed. 1995. Sofrako miskuipe. Priština: Novi svet.

Saćip, Mehmed. 2004. Kalendar. Subotica: Čikoš štampa.

Saitović, Baja. 1999. Ak avilam / Evo stigli smo. Prokuplje.



Saljijesor, Seljajdin. 1988. Dživdipe maškar o Roma. Preševo.

Serbezovski, Muharem. 1983. Šareni dijamanti. Sarajevo: Veselin Masleša.

Serbezovski, Muharem. 1985. Cigani A kategorije. Sarajevo: Veselin Masleša.

- Serbezovski, Muharem. 2000. *Cigani i ljudska prava*. Sarajevo: Vijeće kongresa bošnjačkih intelektualaca.
- Slapčak, Svetlana. 2000. *Dečija prava / Čhavorenge čačipena*. Beograd: Fond za humanitarno pravo.
- *So si o Islamo?* 2004. [nakhada Bajram Haliti]. Beograd: Kulturako kendro e Islamskune Republikako Iran / Kulturni centar islamske Republike Irana / Nevimatandji informativnuni agencija e rromendji ane Srbija thaj Crna Gora / Novinsko informativna agencija Roma SCG.
- Terzić, Nedeljko. 1997. *Noćne ptice = Rjatune čiriklja* [đilja nakhada Trifun Dimić]. Beograd: Prosveta.
- Terzić, Nedeljko. 1989. *Srma u grlu = Srmava ano krlo* [nakhada pe Rromani čhib Ali Krasnići]. Sremska Mitrovica: Dom omladine "1. novembar".
- Todorović, Dragan. 2005. *Romani Narratives about Pre-Death, Death and After-Death Customs = Romano vakeriba kotar anglunomeribasere, meribasere thay palomeribasere adetya* [translation Branislav D. Đơrđević, Aleksandar Antić, nakhavdo Baja Saitović-Lukin ... et al.]. Niš: Yugoslav Society for the Scientific Study of Religion.
- Todorović, Olivera. 2004. *Te pharave to šero*, vol 1-4. [nakhavgja pi romani čhib Koka Ljuan]. Beograd: O. Todorović / Ž. Martinovski.
- Uhlik, Rade [translator]. 1938. O Devlikano Ramope e Sumnale Lukhatar. Beograd: British and Foreign Biblie Society.
- Uhlik, Rade. 1951. *Ciganske priče i legende u ruhu i duhu narodnih pitalica*. Sarajevo: Bilten Instituta za proučavanje folklore.
- Uhlik, Rade. 1957. Ciganska poezija. Sarajevo: Svijetlost.

Uhlik, Rade. 1985. Ciganske priče. Beograd: Rad.

Uhlik, Rade i Slobodan Berberski. 1980. Kaživanja Roma. Priština: Jedinstvo.

Vasić, Zoran. 2002. *Paramiče amare purendar / Priče naših starih*. Beograd: Udruženje Roma "Oaza".

Šainović, Kadrija. 2003. Mogu i smem / Šaj thaj smiv / I Can and I am Allowed. Bor: "Baro Ilo".

Šainović, Kadrija. 1975. Ciganske intime. Kruševac: Bagdala.

Šainović, Kadrija i Osman Balić, eds. Jabuka u srcu: [knjiga romske poezije] / Phabaj ano ilo / Apple in the Hearth / XXVI smotra kulturnih dostignuća Roma Srbije. Niš: Smotra kulturnih dostignuća Roma Srbije.

Šejh Hadži Rahim. 2006. Mevljudi šerif / Šejh Hadži Rahim. Beograd: Š. H. Rahim.

Šipovac, Nedjo. 1973. Romani gili. Beograd: Sela.

Živeti zajedno / Të jetojmë së bashku / Te dzivdina ko jekhutnipe / Live Together. 2002. Vranje: OK Radio.

Periodicals

Ciganske novine / Romano lil. [editor Svetozar Simić]. N 1, 30. april 1935.

Čhavorrengo them [editor Stevan Nikolić]. Since Jan 2005.

- Čhavrikano lil: jugoslovensko čhavrikano lil pe romani čhib / Dečje novine: jugoslovenski list za decu na romskom jeziku [editor Dragan Milovanović]. 1985-1986.
- *Čhavrikano lil: internacionalno čhavrikano lil pe romani čhib* [edtor Dragoljub Acković]. Sine 1989.

Them [editor Stevan Nikolić]. Since 2003.

- Krlo e romengo: Lil andar amalipano thaj kulturno pučipe [edtior Rajko Djurić'].1983.
- Romano lil. Romske novine: duje kurkonesko lil Rromengo ande Jugoslavija / dvonedeljno glasilo jugoslovenskih Roma [editor Dragoljub Acković]. Since June 1996.
- Romano Nevipe: informativno-magazinsko lil / informativno-magazinski list [editor Ljuan Koka]. Since 1997.
- Rrmnjaki zor. Lil pala e Rromnji thaj familija / Snaga žene: časopis za ženu i porodicu [Đurđica Zorić] Since 2004.

Rrota: Rromano magazini [Kadri Mumiši]. 1995. Priština: Kedipe Rromengo "Polaćho Drom".